AGREEMENT

between

THE CITY OF BRIDGEPORT

and

THE CONNECTICUT LABORERS' DISTRICT COUNCIL FOR THE BRIDGEPORT PUBLIC EMPLOYEES UNION LOCAL 665

July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2026

Contents

PREAMBLE4
I. THE UNION AND UNION SECURITY4
ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION4
ARTICLE 2 - CHECK-OFF4
ARTICLE 3 - BARGAINING UNIT5
ARTICLE 4 - UNION ACTIVITIES5
ARTICLE 5 - BULLETIN BOARDS6
ARTICLE 6 - SENIORITY6
ARTICLE 7 - LAY-OFF AND RECALL
ARTICLE 8 - TOP SENIORITY
II. MANAGEMENT AND THE WORK PLACE
ARTICLE 9 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS
ARTICLE 10 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME9
ARTICLE 11 - VACANT POSITIONS/TRANSFERS
ARTICLE 12 - REST PERIODS11
ARTICLE 13 - DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE
ARTICLE 14 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE11
THE MONTH A DAY DANG MENTER
III. MONETARY PAYMENTS
ARTICLE 15 - WAGES13
ARTICLE 16 - CALL BACK PAY14
ARTICLE 17 - LONGEVITY14
ARTICLE 18 - PAYMENT OF TUITION14
IV. BENEFITS

	ARTICLE 19 - INSURANCE	15
	ARTICLE 20 - PENSION PLAN	21
	ARTICLE 21 - EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (EAP)	21
V.	HOLIDAYS AND LEAVES	22
	ARTICLE 22 - HOLIDAYS	22
	ARTICLE 23 - VACATIONS	23
	ARTICLE 24 - SICK LEAVE	24
	ARTICLE 25 - PERSONAL LEAVE	25
	ARTICLE 26 - BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	25
	ARTICLE 27 - LEAVES OF ABSENCES	25
	ARTICLE 28 - CATASTROPHIC DISABILITY LEAVE	26
	ARTICLE 29 - WORKER'S COMPENSATION	26
	ARTICLE 30 - JURY DUTY	27
VI.	MISCELLANEOUS	27
VI.	MISCELLANEOUS	
VI.		27
VI.	ARTICLE 31 - NONDISCRIMINATION	27
VI.	ARTICLE 31 - NONDISCRIMINATION	27 28
VI.	ARTICLE 31 - NONDISCRIMINATION ARTICLE 32 - COPIES OF THE CONTRACT ARTICLE 33 - SAVINGS CLAUSE	27 28 28
VI.	ARTICLE 31 - NONDISCRIMINATION ARTICLE 32 - COPIES OF THE CONTRACT ARTICLE 33 - SAVINGS CLAUSE ARTICLE 34 - AMERICAN'S WITH DISABILITIES ACT	282828
VI.	ARTICLE 31 - NONDISCRIMINATION ARTICLE 32 - COPIES OF THE CONTRACT ARTICLE 33 - SAVINGS CLAUSE ARTICLE 34 - AMERICAN'S WITH DISABILITIES ACT ARTICLE 35 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT	28282828
VI.	ARTICLE 31 - NONDISCRIMINATION ARTICLE 32 - COPIES OF THE CONTRACT ARTICLE 33 - SAVINGS CLAUSE ARTICLE 34 - AMERICAN'S WITH DISABILITIES ACT ARTICLE 35 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT ARTICLE 36 - AIRPORT CERTIFICATION SPECIALISTS (ACES)	2828282828
VI.	ARTICLE 31 - NONDISCRIMINATION ARTICLE 32 - COPIES OF THE CONTRACT ARTICLE 33 - SAVINGS CLAUSE ARTICLE 34 - AMERICAN'S WITH DISABILITIES ACT ARTICLE 35 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT ARTICLE 36 - AIRPORT CERTIFICATION SPECIALISTS (ACES) ARTICLE 37 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISION	282828282828
VI.	ARTICLE 31 - NONDISCRIMINATION ARTICLE 32 - COPIES OF THE CONTRACT ARTICLE 33 - SAVINGS CLAUSE ARTICLE 34 - AMERICAN'S WITH DISABILITIES ACT ARTICLE 35 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT ARTICLE 36 - AIRPORT CERTIFICATION SPECIALISTS (ACES) ARTICLE 37 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISION ARTICLE 38 - JOB RECLASSIFICATION	2828282828282828
VI.	ARTICLE 31 - NONDISCRIMINATION ARTICLE 32 - COPIES OF THE CONTRACT ARTICLE 33 - SAVINGS CLAUSE ARTICLE 34 - AMERICAN'S WITH DISABILITIES ACT ARTICLE 35 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT ARTICLE 36 - AIRPORT CERTIFICATION SPECIALISTS (ACES) ARTICLE 37 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISION ARTICLE 38 - JOB RECLASSIFICATION SIGNATURES	272828282828283132
VI.	ARTICLE 31 - NONDISCRIMINATION ARTICLE 32 - COPIES OF THE CONTRACT ARTICLE 33 - SAVINGS CLAUSE ARTICLE 34 - AMERICAN'S WITH DISABILITIES ACT. ARTICLE 35 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT ARTICLE 36 - AIRPORT CERTIFICATION SPECIALISTS (ACES) ARTICLE 37 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISION ARTICLE 38 - JOB RECLASSIFICATION SIGNATURES APPENDIX A - JOB GROUPS	272828282828303132

Appendix E - LIUNA Members	50
Appendix F - Agreement Regarding Premium Cost Share	52
Appendix G - Healthcare Plan Change Agreement	54
Appendix H - Tentative Agreement of 06/08/2009	55
Appendix I - Tentative Agreement of 10/13/2015	58
Appendix J - 2018-2018 CBA Extension Agreement	61

PREAMBLE

This Agreement is entered into by the City of Bridgeport, (the "Employer" or the "city") The Connecticut Laborers' District Council for the Bridgeport Public Employees Local Union 665 (the Union).

I. THE UNION AND UNION SECURITY

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION

- 1.1 The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the purpose of establishing salaries, wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment for all of those positions or (substantially similar positions not presently included in another bargaining unit) in the City of Bridgeport, listed by job groups herein, (see Appendix A attached hereto). The Union reserves the right to claim additional or changed positions.
- 1.2 The Union recognizes the Mayor of the City of Bridgeport or his/her designated representative or representatives as the sole representative of the City of Bridgeport for the purpose of collective bargaining. The parties further agree to bargain in good faith on all matters relating to wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment.

ARTICLE 2 - CHECK-OFF

2.1 The City agrees to deduct from the pay of all employees covered by this Agreement, who authorize such deductions from their wages in writing, such membership dues and initiation fees as may be uniformly assessed by the Union. When an employee does not have sufficient money due him/her, after deductions have been made for Pension or other deductions required by law, Union dues for such deduction period shall be deducted in a pay period in which the employee has sufficient funds due him/her. It is also agreed that neither any employee nor the Union shall have any claim against the City for errors in the processing of deductions unless a claim of error is made in writing to the City within sixty (60) days after the date such deductions were or should have been made. It is also agreed that the obligation of the City for funds actually deducted under this Section terminates upon the delivery of the deductions so made to the person authorized by the Union to receive such funds from the City.

The City shall institute a separate payroll deduction, for all employees who elect to contribute to the Laborers' Political league.

2.2 <u>Deduction Period:</u> The remittance to the Union for any month shall be made

during the fourth (4th) payroll week of said month and shall be remitted to the Union, together with a list of names of employees from whose wages such deductions have been made, no later than the fifteenth (15th) day of the following month (Weekly Dues).

- 2.3 Union Security Agency Shop: It shall be a condition of employment that all employees of the Employer covered by this Agreement who are members of the Union in good standing on the effective (execution) date of this Agreement shall remain members in good standing of the Union during the term of the Agreement. It shall be a condition of employment that all employees covered by this Agreement who are not members of the Union on the effective date of this Agreement shall on the thirty-first (31st) day following the effective date of this Agreement become and remain members in good standing in the Union or pay to the Union an amount equal to dues payable by Union members during the term of the Agreement. It shall also be a condition of employment that all employees covered by this Agreement and hired on or after its effective (execution) date shall, on the 31st day following the beginning of such employment become and remain members in good standing in the Union or pay to the Union an amount equal to dues payable by members during the term of Agreement. All such dues shall be automatically payroll deducted and remitted to the Union.
- 2.4 The Union agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City for any loss or damage arising from the operation of this Article. It is also agreed that neither any employee nor the Union shall have any claim against the City for any deductions made or not made, as the case may be, unless a claim of error is made in writing to the City within sixty (60) calendar days after the date such deductions were or should have been made.

ARTICLE 3 - BARGAINING UNIT

- 3.1 This Agreement applies to and includes all employees of the City of Bridgeport listed in Article 1 Recognition and Appendix A of this Contract.
- **3.2** Reduced-time employees who work twenty (20) hours or more per week are included in the bargaining unit; those who work less than twenty (20) hours per week are excluded. Temporary positions of four (4) months or less shall be excluded from the bargaining unit.
- **3.3** The inclusion in the bargaining unit of a newly established similar classification will be a subject for negotiations between the City and the Union.
- **3.4** Any dispute on whether a newly established classification is to be included or excluded from the bargaining unit will be submitted to the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations to resolve such dispute.

ARTICLE 4 - UNION ACTIVITIES

- **4.1** The City agrees that a Union Officer shall have time during working hours without loss of pay for the investigation and adjustment of grievances; permission to absent himself/herself from his/her work area may be withheld by the department head only, because of operation requirements, but in no event later than the start of the next regular shift. The Union agrees that the complaint will be handled as quickly as possible.
- **4.2** Four Union officials may attend meetings for the purpose of negotiations during working hours, without loss of pay.
- **4.3** Appropriate Union officials may attend meetings during working hours without loss of pay when such meetings are requested or approved by the Labor Relations Officer.
- 4.4 Union officers shall be able to consult with the Employer, his/her representative, Local Union officers, or other Union representatives concerning the enforcement of any provisions of this Agreement.
- 4.5 Designated Union representatives or officials shall be granted a total of twenty (20) paid working days per year on an accumulative basis to attend Union conference, conventions and meetings, twenty-five (25) days every five (5) years (this shall be for attendance at the International convention 2016. The Union will provide the City with reasonable advance notice of such leave. Further, the union may request, and the City through its Director of Labor Relations shall consider additional leave with pay for such Union representatives or officials to attend training or educational sessions in connection with their Union responsibilities. The decision shall be in the discretion of the City's Director of Labor Relations but shall not be arbitrary and capricious.

ARTICLE 5 - BULLETIN BOARDS

5.1 The City will furnish and maintain suitable bulletin boards in convenient places in each work area and may be used by the Union. The Union agrees that the material posted will not contain propaganda against or attacks upon the City or any official thereof. Currently there are bulletin boards at City Hall, 45 Lyon Terrace near Room 106, and in the 2nd floor lunch room at the Margaret Morton Government Center, 999 Broad Street.

ARTICLE 6 - SENIORITY

6.1 The City shall prepare a list of employees represented by the Union, showing their seniority in time of service with the City, their classification and rate of pay, and deliver the same to the Union within ninety (90) days of signing or anniversary date of the contract.

- 6.2 All new employees (non-seasonal), shall have a probationary period of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days, and upon successful completion of this period they shall be classified as regular employees. The probationary period shall be counted as part of the seniority after the employee is considered regular. Probationary employees shall accrue vacation benefits during their probationary period, however they will not be allowed to take vacation until after the completion of their probationary period. During probation, the City may dismiss an employee as unsatisfactory or otherwise discipline an employee, and such action shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration process.
- **6.3** All employees promoted or transferred to a new or higher classification shall serve a trial period of forty-five (45) calendar days, and upon successful completion of this period they shall be classified as regular employees. Should the employee fail the trial period he/she shall revert to the previously held position.
- **6.4** Seniority shall mean length of service to the municipality. Such seniority shall apply to the employee's rights in cases of lay-offs (within job group), re-employment, and vacation.

ARTICLE 7 - LAY-OFF AND RECALL

7.1 In the event that the City makes reduction in the number of employees in an established job group, employees with the least seniority will be laid-off first. A listing of established job groups is attached as Appendix A which is incorporated herein by reference. In all cases of reduction in force or reorganization where layoff occurs, the City will provide the Union as much reasonable advance notice as possible and in no event shall such notice be less than thirty (30) calendar days unless an emergency or unforeseen circumstance arises, in which case the City will notify the Union as soon as possible. Subsequent recalls to open positions in that particular job and job group shall be made in the reverse order of the lay-offs.

An employee shall retain his/her seniority status and right of recall in the specific job group for twenty-four (24) months following the date of his/her layoff. If the employee refuses recall to an opening in the position from which he/she was laid off or fails to report for work on such job at the time and on the day specified, he/she shall lose his/her right to further recall and such refusal or failure shall be treated as his/her resignation.

7.2 No new person will be hired or assigned to a vacancy in the bargaining unit so long as employees on layoff and with rights to recall possess the required skills and ability to perform the work. The City shall recall the three (3) most senior laid off employees with the required skills and ability to be interviewed for the open position. The Department head shall have the ability to choose among them based upon the interview. If the skills and ability are relatively equal, then seniority shall be the

determining factor. The recalled employee shall have up to a three (3) month probationary period in the recalled position. If the Department Head or Supervisor determines that the recalled employee does not have the required skills or ability to do the job, the employee will be returned to the layoff list. In the event that the employee is unsuccessful, the second ranked interviewed candidate will be selected. The City in its determinations as to whether skills and ability are relatively equal and as to whether the employee awarded the vacancy has demonstrated the required skills and ability to do the job shall be subject to grievance and arbitration only on the basis that the decision is arbitrary, capricious, or in bad faith. The provision does not limit the City's right to terminate an employee for just cause.

- 7.3 Any employee covered by the terms of this agreement and subject to being laid-off, shall have the right to bump down to another job within their group; for which he or she is qualified, provided they have greater seniority than employee(s) occupying the lower job. The City's determination as to qualification shall be subject to grievance and arbitration only on the basis that the decision is arbitrary, capricious or in bad faith.
- **7.4** If it becomes necessary to lay-off, the following shall be the order of lay-off by job groups:
 - 1. Reduced time bargaining unit employees;
 - 2. Probationary employees;
 - **3.** Regular full time bargaining unit employees by inverse order of length of service with the Municipality.
- **7.5** For purposes of this article, lay-offs shall include all reductions in the work force whether by lay-off, furlough, job elimination, reorganization, or funding elimination.

ARTICLE 8 - TOP SENIORITY

8.1 Officers and Stewards of the Union shall have top seniority in the event of a layoff, vacation and all conditions of employment.

II. MANAGEMENT AND THE WORK PLACE

ARTICLE 9 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

9.1 Except as specifically abridged or modified by any provision of this Agreement, the City will continue to have, whether exercised or not, all the rights, powers and authority heretofore existing, including but not limited to the following: determine the standards of service offered by the City; direct its employees; maintain the efficiency of governmental operations; determine the methods, means and personnel by which the City's operations are to be conducted; establish and revise or discontinue policies,

programs and procedures to meet changing conditions and to better serve the needs of the public; exercise control and discretion over its organization and the technology of performing its work; and, fulfill all of its legal responsibilities.

The City retains the right to contract-out services performed by the unit. The City agrees to notify the Union of its decision as soon as possible. In exercising this right, the City shall endeavor in good faith to secure continued employment of unit members with the contracted service. This provision does not absolve either party of its respective obligation to bargain the impact of any such decision.

The above rights, responsibilities and prerogatives are inherent in the City Council of the City of Bridgeport and its Mayor, by virtue of statutory ordinance or charter provisions, and provisions, and may be subject to grievance or arbitration proceedings only as specifically provided for in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 10 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

10.1 All employees covered by this agreement will work 35-40 hours per weekwith a one-hour unpaid lunch period. Management will have the right to change employees' hours from 35-40 hours and back as needed. The shift hours and days of work as well as the shift for all employees covered by this Agreement may be changed for seasonal and operating reasons or for the convenience of the public, after the City meets and confers with the Union regarding such changes.

Employees assigned to the Construction Management Division are required to work a forty (40) hour work week.

- 10.2 Department heads shall make overtime assignments consistent with the principle of distributing overtime as equitably as practicable among the employees holding the job effected by the overtime assignment.
- **10.3** An employee will work overtime when requested to do so by their supervisor. Employees shall be notified of such assignment as soon as possible.
- 10.4 In the event that all employees refuse, or are not available to work overtime, the least senior employee in the classification and area effected by the overtime work must work such overtime. In the event of an emergency declared by the Mayor, no one may refuse to work overtime.
- 10.5 Subject to approval of the Director of Labor Relations, employees may request a flexible work schedule. The approval shall be subject to the condition that the economy and efficiency of operations are not hereby impaired, and such approval shall not be unreasonably denied.

- 10.6 Those employees eligible for overtime shall be paid at straight time for those hours worked in excess of their regular hours up to forty (40) hours per week; and at a rate of one and one-half ($1\frac{1}{2}$) for those hours in excess of forty (40) hours per week.
- 10.7 Those employees not eligible for overtime due to the budgetary constraints of their Department shall receive one (1) hour of compensatory time off for each hour worked in excess of their regular hours up to forty (40) hours per week; and at a rate of one and one-half ($1\frac{1}{2}$) hours of comp time for each hour thereafter. Compensatory time shall be used within sixty (60) days unless such period is extended by the department head.
- 10.8 Employees will only be compensated for work performed in excess of their normal working hours if such work is authorized in writing by their Department Heads.

Employees may be required to take time off that day or that week in lieu of comp time or overtime pay.

- 10.9 The City, at its sole discretion, and subject to its normal staffing approval process, shall have the ability to increase the work hours and salary of an employee and/or position from 35 to 40 hours per week. The City, also at its sole discretion, but with two (2) weeks notice to the employee, may reverse the above increase in work hours and salary.
- 10.10 When the City intends to transfer/change the location of an employee it will give five (5) days notice.

ARTICLE 11 - VACANT POSITIONS/TRANSFERS

- 11.1 The City agrees that vacant positions in the bargaining unit shall be posted for a minimum of ten (10) working days in the Human Resources Office.
- 11.2 The City shall send a copy of the posting to the Union prior to or at the time of the posting.
- 11.3 The City shall give the job description of any new classification to the Union as early as practical before its release.
- 11.4 Employees in the bargaining unit who meet the minimum qualifications may apply for the position. The City agrees that preference shall be granted to employees with substantially equivalent qualifications in accordance with seniority in the filling of vacant positions within the bargaining unit. However, final determination as to the filling of such positions shall be at the sole discretion of management.
- 11.5 The City may transfer and assign employees provided that the department head or immediate supervisor shall meet and explain the reasons for the transfer or

assignment to the employees. Transfers and assignments shall not be arbitrary and capricious. The City further agrees that transfers and assignments shall not reduce the normal weekly work hours or regular base salary, excluding overtime, of the employee.

ARTICLE 12 - REST PERIODS

- 12.1 All employees' work schedules shall provide for a fifteen (15) minute rest period during each one-half shift. The rest period shall be scheduled at the middle of each one-half shift whenever this is feasible.
- 12.2 Employees who, for any reason, work beyond their regular quitting time into the next shift shall receive a fifteen (15) minute rest period before they start to work on such next shift. In addition, they shall be granted the regular rest periods which occur during the shift.

ARTICLE 13 - DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

- 13.1 The City shall exercise full disciplinary authority consistent with its responsibilities to direct employees to perform their required work duties in order to achieve department program goals and satisfactory municipal service to the general public.
- **13.2** All disciplinary action shall be based upon just cause.
- 13.3 Disciplinary action shall include (a) a verbal warning, (b) a written warning, (c) suspension without pay, and (d) discharge. The City and the Union recognize the concept of a progressive discipline policy, however, both parties agree that there are certain grave offenses wherein the discipline imposed by the City does not require compliance to the aforementioned provisions.

In the case of an employee who has received a verbal or written warning and where a period of one (1) year has elapsed without the employee's having received any further discipline, the City shall, upon request of the employee, remove the aforesaid warning from the employee's file.

- 13.4 All disciplinary actions may be appealed through the established grievance procedure within ten (10) days of their occurrence through Step III, (binding arbitration).
- 13.5 All suspensions and discharges must be stated in writing and a copy given to the employee and the Union Representative.

ARTICLE 14 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

14.1 Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties, concerning the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement, shall be settled only in the

following manner:

STEP I - The employee or the Union Representative, with or without the employee, shall file the grievance or dispute with the employee's Department Head within ten (10) working days of the date of the grievance or the employee's knowledge of its occurrence, whichever is later. The Department Head shall arrange to meet with the employee or the Union Representative with or without the employee to attempt to adjust the matter and shall respond in writing to the Union within seven (7) working days.

STEP II - If the grievance still remains unadjusted, it shall be presented by the Union Representative to the City's Labor Relations Office, in writing, ten (10) working days after the response of the Department Head is due. The written grievance shall be presented on a grievance form and shall include a statement of the facts and contract provisions involved and the remedy or correction requested. Within seven (7) working days after submission, a meeting shall be held between the Union Representative and the Labor

Relations Office for the purpose of adjusting the grievance. The City's Labor Relations Office shall respond in writing to the Union Representative, (with a copy of the response to the local Business Manager) at the meeting or within seven (7) working days.

STEP III - If the grievance is still unsettled, either party may, within fifteen (15) days after the reply of the Labor Relations Officer is due, or within fifteen (15) days following receipt of the written reply by the Labor Relations Office, whichever period is later, by

written notice to the other, request arbitration by a mutually agreed upon arbitrator or arbitration forum. If the parties are unable to agree on an Arbitrator within five (5) working days, the matter shall be submitted to the American Arbitration Association under the rules of voluntary arbitration of the American Arbitration Association. The parties agree that time is of the essence in resolving labor complaints and all arbitration shall be handled as expeditiously as possible. Said arbitrator(s) shall hear and act on such dispute in accordance with applicable rules and regulations, or other rules and regulations agreed upon in writing by the City and the Union. The arbitrator(s) shall limit the decision strictly to the application, meaning or interpretation of the provisions of this agreement. The arbitrator(s) shall not add to, nor subtract from, the terms of this agreement as written. The arbitration award shall be in writing and shall set forth the opinion and conclusions on only the issues submitted.

The decision of the arbitrator(s) shall be final and binding on the parties and the arbitrator(s) shall be requested to issue the decision within thirty (30) calendar days after the conclusion of testimony and argument.

14.2 Each party shall be responsible for compensating its own representatives and witnesses. If either party desires a verbatim record of the proceedings, it may cause

such a record to be made, providing it pays for the record and makes copies available without charge to the other party and to the arbitrator(s).

- 14.3 Grievances initiated by the Employer shall be processed in this same manner, but they may be initiated at Step II by submitting it to the Business Manager.
- **14.4** Upon mutual agreement by the City and the Union, any of the time limits in this Article may be waived.
- 14.5 The City and the Union agree that every attempt shall be made to schedule arbitration hearings in discharge cases within one hundred and twenty (120) days of the filing date for arbitration.
- **14.6** Upon mutual agreement, the parties may utilize an expedited arbitration system.

III. MONETARY PAYMENTS

ARTICLE 15 - WAGES

- 15.1A Effective July 1, 2022, there shall be a three percent (3%) increase in salaries.
- 15.1B Effective July 1, 2023, there shall be a three percent (3%) increase in salaries.
- 15.1C Effective July 1, 2024, there shall be a three percent (3%) increase in salaries.
- **15.1D** Effective July 1, , 2025, there shall be a one and one half percent (1.5%) increase in salaries.
- 15.2 For the purpose of this Agreement, an employee's regular weekly earnings shall be that portion of his/her regular annual salary which he/she receives each week. An employee's regular hourly rate shall be that portion of his/her weekly earnings reduced to an hourly rate.
- 15.3 In determining an employee's rate of pay for any monetary benefits under this Agreement, the basis to be used in such determination shall be the employee's regular annual, weekly or hourly rate, whichever is appropriate in determining such benefits.
- 15.4 In no event shall any additional monies received as a result of any other provisions of this Agreement be considered as a portion of an employee's regular annual, weekly or hourly rate.
- **15.5** All employees on an annual salary shall be paid their wages based on fifty-two (52) weeks.
- 15.6 Employees assigned by the Department Head to perform substantially all of the duties of a position with a higher salary and greater responsibilities, for a period of time in excess of ten (10) consecutive working days, shall be paid the difference of their base

rate and the rate of the higher position.

Such assignments shall be pre-approved by the Director of Labor Relations in order to be eligible for payment.

- 15.7 If the duties, responsibilities, or hours of a position assigned to an employee are substantially increased on a permanent basis, the parties will meet within ten (10) working days of a request to negotiate a salary, to reflect such substantive changes. In the event the parties are unable to agree, either party may invoke the expedited notices for arbitration pursuant to the rules and procedures of the American Arbitration Association. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding and the costs of arbitration shall be paid equally by the parties.
- 15.8 Any retroactive payments made under this Agreement will only be made to those who are employed by the City on the date of execution of this Agreement.
- 15.9 The individuals assigned to work the night shift in the IT's department has his/her regular work assignment shall receive a night shift differential of \$1.15 per hour. This payment to this position will apply to any employee regularly assigned to the night shift which shall be defined as a work day which is regularly scheduled to commence on or after 4:00 p.m. and end on or before 8:00 a.m.
- **15.10** Effective July 1, 2010 all bargaining unit members shall be paid through the City's "direct deposit" payroll system.

ARTICLE 16 - CALL BACK PAY

16.1 When an employee, is called in for work outside of his/her regularly scheduled working hours, he/she shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours at the applicable overtime rate. This provision applies only when such call-back results in hours worked are not annexed consecutively to one end or the other of the working day.

ARTICLE 17 - LONGEVITY

- 17.1 Effective June 30, 1994, each employee who has or will have five (5) or more years of municipal service by October 1, of said contract year, shall receive an annual payment calculated by multiplying the sum seventy-five (\$75.00) dollars by the number of years of such completed service.
- 17.2 Employees hired on or after July 1, 1992, shall not be eligible for longevity pay until such employees shall have ten (10) or more years of municipal service by October 1st of said contract year.
- 17.3 This longevity pay will be payable in each December.

ARTICLE 18 – TUITION REIMBURSEMENT

The City shall reimburse each employee for the out of pocket cost of tuition up to two hundred (\$250) dollars per credit for undergraduate courses and three hundred fifty (\$350) dollars per credit for graduate level courses plus the cost of books and all registration, lab and other fees related to the course. Payment shall be made within sixty (60) days of submission of actual payment to the labor relations department and upon satisfactory completion of a Grade C or better for each course, at an accredited college or university in subjects which are designed to increase his/her proficiency in his/her present or potential assignment at his/her respective departments and shall be related to his/her responsibilities. Each employee shall be limited to twelve (12) credits per fiscal year. The employee must apply and obtain written approval of the City's Labor Relations Director in advance of enrollment. Such approval shall be limited to whether or not the employee's request complies with the standards set forth within this Article and shall not be unreasonably withheld. The tuition reimbursement expenditures shall be capped at eighteen thousand (\$18,000) in the aggregate per fiscal year for all bargaining unit members.

The employee must remain in City employment for a period of three years after payment for course(s). If the employee leaves prior to three years, the employee must reimburse the City for any tuition and other reimbursed costs for such course(s). This Section will not apply to employees who are laid off from the City.

The City will then credit the LIUNA tuition account so that these funds may be used by another LIUNA member.

An employee during the probationary period shall not be eligible for tuition reimbursement.

IV. BENEFITS

ARTICLE 19 - INSURANCE

- **19.1** The City shall provide and pay for Health Benefits for all employees and their enrolled dependents as follows:
- A) "Medical Benefits" in accordance with the City of Bridgeport/Bridgeport Board of Education Medical Plan (including Section V- Schedule of Benefits, (Revised 7/1/10), a copy of which is annexed to the originals of this Contract and is on file with the City and the Union
- B) Drug prescription family plan (covering all approved medications) with an annual maximum of \$1,000 per plan year. For additional prescription drug charges, 80% is paid by the City and 20% is paid by the employee. The co-payment shall be five dollars (\$5.00) for generic drugs; ten dollars (\$10.00) for drugs on the list of preferred

drugs maintained by the City's pharmacy benefits manager; and twenty five dollars (\$25.00) for all other drugs (the "Prescription Drug Plan"). Prescriptions shall be limited to a thirty (30) day supply at retail. For refills beyond the third, mail order must be utilized for maintenance drugs on the list maintained by the City's pharmacy benefits manager, or the co-payments and employee contribution provided for above shall double at retail.

- C) The twenty-five (\$25.00) dollar deductible CIGNA Dental Plan, or its equivalent, excluding orthodontia (the "Dental Plan").
- **D)** The VSP Vision Plan, or its equivalent, as outlined and attached hereto as Appendix C.
- E) Effective October 1, 2018 Sections A and B above shall be replaced by: "Healthcare Benefits" (Medical and Prescription Drugs) in accordance with the State of Connecticut Partnership 2.0 Plan, a summary of which is annexed to the originals of this Contract and is on file with the City and the Union (see Appendix B Summary of Benefits and Appendix G Healthcare Plan Change Agreement
- 19.2 The City shall provide and pay for the cost of a Group Life Insurance Policy in the amount of twenty-five thousand (\$25,000) dollars with accidental death and dismemberment for all employees.
- 19.3 Retirees prior to the first day of this Agreement, and their surviving spouses, if any, will receive benefits for health care as defined in the plans in existence under the contract which governed their retirement (or such alternative coverage as they have accepted) and make contributions to coverage, if any, in accordance with such contract(s).
- 19.4 For employees who have retired or will retire after the first day of this Agreement, and their surviving spouses, if any, the City will provide and pay for benefits under the Medical Plan or a supplemental plan to Medicare Part B offering benefits equal to the Medical Plan and the Prescription Drug Plan. Such retirees, and their surviving spouses, shall make the employee contributions to coverage provided for herein. Coverage for surviving spouses shall terminate upon remarriage. For purposes of this Article: A) "Retirees" shall mean employees who: a) have completed twenty-five (25) years of continuous municipal service regardless of age; and (b) are eligible to receive full pension benefits in accordance with the retirement qualification provisions of MERF Fund B; and B) Retirees must accept Medicare Part B coverage if eligible.

For employees who retire on or after December 31, 2015, the parties agree that Medicare-eligible retirees and their spouses who are Medicare eligible are provided with a Medicare supplement plan in place of the City's insurance plan. At that time, the premium cost share as specified in Article 19.12 and 19.13 shall be based on the

supplemental plan. Subject to the final contract language, the following reflects the concept that the premium cost share shall be paid based on whatever plan the retiree and covered dependents are enrolled in:

- For retirees and their spouses attaining Medicare eligibility after the actual Retirement date, the premium cost share shall be based on the premium rate of the supplement plan provided by the City for said retirees and their spouses.
- The premium cost share for the retiree's dependents, including a spouse who is not Medicare eligible, shall be based upon the Fully Insured Equivalent rate for the overage provided to such dependents.

In addition, effective July 1, 2009 any newly hired or promoted employees into a LIUNA bargaining unit position shall only receive the above benefits after twenty-five (25) years of service.

Any current LIUNA member, listed on the attached Appendix who meets the above qualification and who may in the future change jobs within LIUNA, shall continue to be covered under the terms of the current agreement and will not be subject to a change in healthcare premium cost share (PCS) or years needed for retirement. (See Appendix E & F)

- 19.5 It is the intent of this Agreement that all current LIUNA members hired on or before July 1, 2009 in accordance with Appendix E shall be "grandfathered" and continue to be eligible to retire and receive the medical benefits provided by the current Collective Bargaining Agreement provided they have attained the following:
 - A. Completed fifteen (15) years of municipal service and are age fifty-five (55) or who have completed twenty-five (25) years of municipal service regardless of the age; and
 - B. Are eligible to receive full pension benefits in accordance with the retirement qualifications provisions of MERF-Fund B.
 - C. Retirees must accept Medicare Part B coverage if eligible.

All employees hired after December 31, 2015, will not be entitled to post-retirement health benefits. It is understood that all employees hired on or prior to December 31, 2015 shall be entitled to post-retirement health benefits.

- 19.6 Whenever an employee covered by this agreement is suspended, all health benefits and insurance shall be provided throughout the period of suspension.
- 19.7 The City may offer the privilege of choosing an alternative health care carrier and/or administrator and/or plans in lieu of the City's Plan as set forth in Section 19.1 of this Article. Enrollment periods shall be annually in May of each year. For employees

electing the alternative, the City shall remit monthly to the Plans in an amount up to but not to exceed that which the City pays for the City's Insurance Plans as specified in Section 19.1 of this Article. If the cost for the alternative is greater than the amount the City would have paid or contributed had the employee not elected such plan, then the City agreed to deduct from the employee's pay, upon receipt of a written authorization from the employee, the additional amount required for full payment of the alternative cost.

- The City shall be permitted to substitute insurance or benefits arrangements from any source for the Plans provided for in Section 19.1 of this Article. Such substitutions shall be permitted if the substituted coverage offers benefits and methods of administration, processing and payment of claims at least equal to those specifically provided for in Section 19.1 of this Article. Before the City may substitute, it must negotiate the substitution with the Union. If the Union does not agree to the substitution, the City must claim the matter for arbitration in accordance with single member panel rules of the American Arbitration Association. The Arbitrator will order the substitution, if after weighing the total benefits and methods of administration, processing and payment of claims offered by the City's proposal against the total benefits and methods of administration, processing and payment of claims offered by the Plan specified in Section 19.1 of this Article, he/she finds that the average bargaining unit member will, on an overall basis, benefit at least as well under the proposed substituted coverage. Nothing herein shall require the City to propose total substitutions for the coverage provided in Section 19.1 of this Article and substitution may be proposed for any one or more of the specified coverages.
- 19.9 The City shall provide a payment in lieu of health benefits for employees that waive such coverage, in the amount of five hundred (\$500) dollars per year. Effective July 1, 2010, the payment shall increase to one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500) in lieu of health benefits. Effective January 1, 2011, the payment shall increase to two thousand dollars (\$2,000), in lieu of health benefits. Payment in lieu of health benefits shall be capped at two thousand dollars (\$2,000).
- **19.9a** The City and the Union agree to phase out the insurance buyout for employees who accept the buyout but remain covered by the City. Beginning on July 1, 2016 the buyout will be reduced to the following:

July 1, 2016 insurance buyout will be reduced to \$1,500.00;

July 1,2017 insurance buyout will be reduced to \$1,000.00;

July 1, 2018 insurance buyout will be reduced to \$500.00;

Commencing on July 1, 2018, there will be no buyout available to those employees receiving health benefits from the City. For employees hired after December 31, 2015,

no insurance buyout will be available if that employee receives health benefits from the City, generally from a spouse or other relative.

19.9b For those employees who receive health insurance from a source outside of the City, the buyout available to them will be as follows:

July 1, 2016 increase to \$2,500.00;

July 1, 2017 increase to \$2,750.00

July 1, 2018 increase to \$3,000.00

19.10 The City, at its option, may change carriers for the insurance or the method of providing the health benefits in this Article, provided the benefits are equal to or better than, in all benefits, in the manner of payments, services and procedures for payments.

The parties shall continue to work through the Labor Management Cooperative Committee on health care, which may modify but not substantially change the health benefits as provided herein.

19.11 Each active employee (and each employee who has retired or will retire on or after the first day of this Agreement) shall contribute twelve percent (12%) of the Premium Cost for the Medical Plan and the Prescription drug Plan effective on July 1, 2009. Such contribution will increase to fifteen percent (15%) effective July 1, 2010. Effective January 1, 2011 such contribution shall increase to twenty-one percent (21%). Effective July 1, 2011 such contribution shall increase to twenty-five percent (25%). For purposes of this Section (and wherever applicable elsewhere in this Article), "Premium Cost" shall be defined as either the actual premium cost paid for such coverage or if the City does not pay an actual premium cost, then the pseudo premium cost as developed by an independent third-party administrator for purposes of establishing premiums pursuant to the Comprehensive Omnibus Reduction Act (COBRA").

19.12 LIUNA members as of December 17, 2010 will have their PCS contribution capped at twenty-five (25%) contribution as of July 1, 2011. This PCS cap is guaranteed to remain intact during the individual employee's employment period and entire period of retirement. (See Appendix E)

19.13 All employees hired after July 1, 2010, who currently pay a premium cost share (PCS) higher than 25% shall have their health benefits premium cost share reduced to 25%. Thereafter, this PCS percentage shall increase by 1% per year on July 1st of each year, until a cap of 33 and 1/3% is reached. Said premium cost share percentage shall be the above named amount regardless of the coverage category of employee only, employee plus one, or employee plus family.

For purposes of this Section (and wherever applicable elsewhere in the Article), "Premium Cost" shall be defined as either the actual premium cost paid for such

coverage or, if the City does not pay an actual premium cost, then the pseudo premium cost as developed by an independent third party administrator for the purposes of establishing premiums pursuant to the Comprehensive Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act ("COBRA")This shall be capped at fifty percent (50%) after twenty-five (25) years of municipal service employment. This PCS cap of fifty percent (50%) is guaranteed to remain intact during the entire period of retirement.

- 19.14 A) The City has implemented and shall maintain a cafeteria plan pursuant to Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code for all active employees so as to facilitate deduction of the amounts contributed for health benefits and for child care from the gross income of the employee for tax purposes.
- **B)** As an alternative to the current health and/or insurance benefits, the City may offer an employee benefits cafeteria plan which allows the employee to select from a specific list of benefits up to a yearly dollar amount as agreed; the details of which shall be subject to reopener negotiations at the request of either party. Participation in the plan shall be voluntary.
- 19.15 A) For employees who retire on or after June 30, 2001 and their surviving spouses, if any, the City shall provide and pay for the same benefits for medical care (excluding vision and dental coverage) as provided for the active employees as the same may, from time to time, be modified under future collective bargaining agreements or if appropriate due to age, the Medicare Supplement Plan to the extent needed. Retired employee contributions shall be equal to the amount of such contributions at retirement plus an increase in such contributions as such increase may exist from time to time.
- B) If any employee who retires on or after June 30, 2001 shall have available coverage for Medical Benefits through subsequent employment of the retiree or through the retiree's spouse ("Alternative Coverage"), such retiree shall apply for and, if eligible, obtain such Alternative Coverage provided that the Alternative Coverage shall not exceed in premium cost and/or contribution to the retiree the cost which the retiree would have paid to the City for Medical Benefits coverage except as provided below. The retiree shall not take advantage of any buy-out program in lieu of Alternative Coverage. The retiree and the retiree's spouse shall remain in the City's Plan even if Alternative Coverage is obtained, but the City's Plan shall remain secondary to the Alternative Coverage so long as it is available. In the event the retiree shall not be eligible for alternative coverage or the retiree's premium cost and/or contribution would be more than the retiree's payment for the City's Plan and the City shall not have exercised an option to reimburse the retiree or surviving spouse for such additional cost, the Medical Benefits provided by the City of Bridgeport shall become primary for the retiree and the retiree's spouse.

The retiree and the retiree's spouse who have alternate coverage to which they must

contribute shall not be required to contribute to the City's coverage to the extent of such contributions.

- **19.16** Divorced employees must notify the City within thirty (30) days of the divorce or repay the City by payroll deduction or pension reduction for the cost of any benefit improperly paid as a result of such failure.
- 19.17 Effective July 1, 2016, the parties agree to reopen the contract to bargain major mandates of the Affordable Health Care Act. As a condition precedent to exercising its right to reopen the contract on this issue, the City shall identify the specific benefit for which it is seeking to reopen the agreement and the date on which the City learned of this issue.

ARTICLE 20 - PENSION PLAN

- 20.1 All eligible employees in the bargaining unit shall be covered by the Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement System hereinafter referred to as CMERS. The employee contribution to CMERS shall be on a pre-tax basis in accordance with CMERS requirements subject to all City unions under CMERS Part B agreeing to such change.
- 20.2 The City will contribute forty-two (42) cents per employee per work day effective as of October 1, 2002 to the Laborers' International Union of North America National (Industrial) Pension Fund. The parties will use their best efforts to implement such payment as soon as practical after the approval of this Agreement by the City Council but no later than April 1, 2003. The City will increase such contribution by forty-two (42) cents per work day (i.e. to eighty-four (84) cents per day) effective June 30, 2004. Effective June 30, 2008 the City contribution to the LIUNA National (Industrial) Pension Fund shall increase by twelve (12) cents per hour (i.e. to \$1.68 per day).

ARTICLE 21 - EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (EAP)

21.1 The City recognizes that a wide range of problems not directly associated with ones' job function can have an undesirable effect on an employee's job performance. The City also recognizes that almost any human problem can be successfully treated provided it is identified in its early stages, and referral is made to an appropriate modality of care.

This applies whether the problem be one of physical illness, mental or emotional illness, finances, marital or family distress, alcoholism, drug abuse or legal problems. It is in the interest of the employee, the employees' family and the City to provide an employee with a service which deals with such persistent problems.

21.2 The EAP may establish, and therefore discontinue, and provide its services to all City employees and their immediate family members at no cost to employee or family.

- 21.3 The decision to seek the assistance of EAP is left with the employee. An employee may seek assistance on his/her own or may agree to accept assistance at the suggestion of his/her supervisor.
- 21.4 Employees are assured that their job, future, and reputation will not be jeopardized by utilizing EAP. Strict record confidentiality will be observed at all times. Employee problems causing unsatisfactory job performance will continue to be handled in a forthright manner within the established procedures under this Agreement. There is no conflict or contradiction with such procedures.

To assure consistency and cooperation the appropriate union official will, if the employee consents, become involved when necessary. It should be understood that EAP is a cooperative effort supported by the City and the Unions representing City employees.

21.6 No employee shall be required to seek the assistance of the EAP by his/her supervisor nor be penalized for refusal to voluntarily seek such assistance.

The City also offers retirement counseling to be navigated by the employee him/herself with the employee assigned to handle retirement benefits for the City of Bridgeport V. HOLIDAYS AND LEAVES

ARTICLE 22 - HOLIDAYS

- 22.1 The following days shall be paid holidays: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day, President's Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Juneteenth, Independence Day, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veteran's Day, Thanksgiving Day, the day after Thanksgiving, Christmas Day and any holiday officially proclaimed as such by the President of the United States, the Governor of the State of Connecticut and the Mayor of the City.
- **22.2** If a holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be considered the holiday. If a holiday falls on a Saturday, the holiday shall be observed the preceding Friday.
- 22.3 Employees required to work on a holiday at the Department Head's assignment and/or approval shall be compensated for such work at two (2) times their hourly rate plus holiday pay (1 day's pay) for such work actually performed on the holiday. At the option of the employee and concurrence of the Director of the Department such employee may elect to take double compensatory time in lieu of such holiday pay.
- 22.4 If any such holiday shall occur during the vacation of any employee, the employee

shall not be charged a vacation day in lieu thereof.

22.5 Any employee on sick leave on any such holiday shall receive his/her regular pay for such day, and the same shall not be charged against his/her accumulated sick leave.

ARTICLE 23 - VACATIONS

- 23.1 Employees with continuous municipal service of less than one (1) year shall receive one (1) day of vacation with pay for each month of such continuous service but not to exceed one (1) calendar week in the contract year such service is rendered. In each contract year, any employee with one (1) or more years of such municipal service, but less than five (5) years of such service shall receive two (2) weeks vacation with pay. In each contract year any employee with five (5) or more years of continuous municipal service but less than ten (10) years of such service, shall receive three (3) weeks of vacation with pay. In each contract year, any employee with ten (10) or more years of continuous municipal service, but less than twenty (20) years of such service, shall receive four (4) weeks of vacation with pay. Employees with twenty (20) or more years of continuous municipal service shall receive five (5) weeks vacation with pay.
- **23.2** a) Employees with one (1) week vacation are not eligible for either the option of carryover or payout as set forth below.
- b) Employees with two (2) weeks vacation may exercise the option of carrying over only one (1) week of unused vacation time from one (1) vacation year to the next vacation year, but are not eligible for the option of payout for unused vacation time.
- c) Employees with three (3) weeks or more vacation in addition to the carryover option set forth in (b) above, may elect to work one (1) vacation week at their regular weekly compensation and to receive, in addition, vacation pay for that week worked. An employee eligible for both carryover and payout options may elect to take one or both options in any contract year/vacation year. Each employee must take at least one-week actual vacation.
- d) Employees with four (4) weeks or more vacation, in addition to the carry over option set forth in (b) above, may elect to work two (2) vacation weeks at the regular weekly compensation and to receive, in addition, vacation pay for those weeks worked.

An employee eligible for both carry over and payout options may elect to take one or both options in any contract year/vacation year. Each employee must take at least one-week actual vacation.

e) Employees who have not carried over from the prior year who elect the payout option will be paid in accordance with the current contract year/vacation year salary. An employee who has carried over a week from the prior year and then elects the payout option shall be paid at a rate equal to such employee's salary at the end of the prior

vacation year. All payouts shall be paid to the employee at the end of the vacation year, on or about April 1st, in which the election is made. An irrevocable election must be made by December 31st, of each year in accordance with the City's Vacation Carry Over Policy as determined by IRS State Statutes and Regulations.

ARTICLE 24 - SICK LEAVE

24.1 Sick Leave Allowance - Effective July 1, 1996, those employees hired prior to July 1, 1992 shall earn fifteen (15) sick days; those hired after July 1, 1992 shall earn ten (10) sick days.

For employees hired after July 1, 1996, the days shall accrue, to employees, in the following manner: Five (5) days shall accrue on July 1st, of each year and five (5) days on January 1st. Employees shall receive the pro-rate share of the five (5) days for each completed month prior to either July 1st or January 1st.

For employees hired before July 1, 1992, the sick days shall be accrued at the rate of one and one-fourth (1½) day per month.

- **24.2 Sick Leave accumulation** Any unused sick leave of any employee during continuous employment may be accumulated without limit. Sick leave shall continue to accumulate during leave of absence with pay and during the time an employee is on authorized sick leave or vacation time. **24.3** A medical certificate, acceptable to the department supervisor, may be required on the fourth day for any absence consisting of four (4) or more consecutive working days.
- **24.4 Sick Leave Pay-Out** Sick leave accumulated at retirement or death or other separation from City service, shall be paid out as follows:
- a) Effective July 1, 1992, upon retirement or other separation from City service, an employee shall be credited for the period of time corresponding to the amount of the sick leave accumulated. The above stated credit shall be paid on a lump sum basis of fifty percent (50%) of all unused sick leave earned after July 1, 1992.
- b) All sick leave accumulated as of June 30, 1992, if unused upon separation shall be paid at the rate of eight-five percent (85%) at the salary dollar, effective on that date.
- c) All employees hired on or after the ratification date of this agreement shall be able to accumulate unused sick leave without limit, but shall not be entitled to a payment for unused sick leave at their separation from employment with the City.
- d) On the death of the employee, entitled to a payout, the amount of sick leave time credited to the employee shall be payable to his/her spouse, and/or children, or estate.
- 24.5 The City shall maintain a system for tracking employee sick leave accumulation and shall periodically advise the employees of this information. An employee may make

one annual inquiry regarding the employee's sick leave accumulation.

ARTICLE 25 - PERSONAL LEAVE

- **25.1** Up to four (4) personal leave days with pay shall be granted to any employee on request for personal business in any contract year. Such request will not be unreasonably denied. At the end of the contract year, personal days which are unused, will be credited to the employee's sick leave account.
- **25.2** Employees shall notify their supervisor no later than the prior business day of the proposed use of a personal day except in an emergency.

ARTICLE 26 - BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

- **26.1** Bereavement Leave Each employee shall be granted three (3) days leave with pay in the event of a death in his/her immediate family for the purpose of attending the funeral or memorial services. For purposes of this Article, the term "immediate family" shall mean and include the following: Mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister, brother, spouse, child, grandparent, grandchildren, and step-parents. Any other bereavement leave, or any extension of the above leave shall be charged to the employee's sick leave account.
- **26.2** Employees shall be granted one (1) day leave with pay for the death of any aunt, uncle, brother-in-law or sister-in-law.

ARTICLE 27 - LEAVES OF ABSENCES

27.1 A Department Head, with the approval of the Director of Labor Relations, may grant an employee a leave of absence without pay for a period of not to exceed one (1) year. No leave without pay shall be granted except upon written request of the employee and a guarantee by that employee that he/she will serve the City for at least one(1) year after his/her return from such leave. Whenever granted, such leave shall be approved in writing and signed by the Department Head and the Director of Labor Relations.

Should the nature of the position require a permanent replacement, upon granting of the leave, the employee shall be notified of that. Upon returning from the leave the employee shall be placed in a substantially equivalent position in which he/she has demonstrated that he/she can perform effectively while in City service.

Failure on the part of an employee on leave to report promptly at its expiration, without good cause, shall be considered as a resignation.

27.2 Family and Medical leave shall be granted in accordance with the City's Family and Medical Leave Policy.

ARTICLE 28 - CATASTROPHIC DISABILITY LEAVE

- **Intent** The intent of this article is to allow an employee who becomes disabled and unable to work due to a catastrophic medical illness or condition that is not a workers compensation claim, the opportunity to continue their healthcare insurance for up to one (1) year.
- 28.1 Any employee who becomes medically disabled due to a catastrophic illness and is unable to perform their normally assigned duties may apply for medical leave by submitting a written statement from their physician indicating their present physical condition, the nature of the medical disability, the limitations to which that disability imposes upon their ability to continue with their normally assigned duties, and the probable duration of the disability.
- 28.2 Any employee so medically disabled within the meaning of this article shall be allowed to continue their City provided healthcare insurance at the same level that existed when they became disabled provided they continue paying their required premium cost share (PCS) contributions for said healthcare insurance.
- **28.3** Any employee medically disabled as a result of a catastrophic illness and uses sick leave to the extent accrued shall be entitled to receive all compensation which has been accrued under the various provisions of this agreement, and, upon returning to work, shall receive full credit for accumulated seniority, retirement, fringe benefits, and other service credits.
- **28.4** Any employee disabled as a result of a catastrophic illness or medical complications related to the catastrophic illness must return to their position when they are physically able to perform their duties without restrictions. The City may require medical proof of any disability which it considers unduly long in duration.
- **28.5** The maximum duration for leave under this article shall be twelve (12) months from the first date of said leave.

ARTICLE 29 - WORKER'S COMPENSATION

- **29.1** Employees determined to be eligible for worker's compensation shall receive such compensation as maybe required by law.
- **29.2** Absence from work required by virtue of a job-related accident determined to be compensable under the Worker's Compensation statue shall not reduce the sick leave allowance of the employee which has been accumulated pursuant to Section 2 of Article 24, "Sick Leave", of this Agreement.
- **29.3** Each employee injured or disabled as provided under this Article must choose from the list of health care providers for the City of Bridgeport Workers' Compensation

Managed Care Plan, as may be modified from time to time.

29.4 Modified Duty - If an employee on workers' compensation has a modified or restricted work capacity, the City may, in its discretion, request the employee return to a modified duty position. Such work shall be within the restrictions outlined by the treating medical provider. The employee shall receive his/her regular pay provided he/she works the same number of hours in his/her regular position, otherwise the salary shall be prorated depending on hours worked. The City shall endeavor to utilize the individual in a position where the work is similar to bargaining unit work. The City reserves the right to limit the available number of modified duty positions. These positions are intended to be temporary in nature, generally not to exceed three (3) months in duration and prepare the employee to return to full duty. Nothing herein shall impair an employee's right to take leave provided by external law.

29.5 Maximum Length of Leave: The maximum length of the workers compensation leave shall be achievement of maximum medical improvement (MMI) or twelve (12) months whichever comes first.

ARTICLE 30 - JURY DUTY

30.1 For each of its employees who is summoned to serve on a jury in the Superior Court or United States District Court (in the absence of solicitation by the employee to be listed as a prospective juror) and is required to serve on said jury, the City will reimburse such employees for the difference in the compensation received from the Court and the pay which said employee would have received had the employee worked those hours that the City would have scheduled for the employee's services during the same time period subject to the following provisions:

Employees shall be eligible for this payment after presentation to the City of a statement by the appropriate Clerk of the Court setting forth the dates on which the

employee was actually present in Court pursuant to the jury duty summons and the amount paid by the Court as the result of the performance of such jury duty. No employee shall be eligible for the City reimbursement provided herein required for jury duty more often than once in a fiscal year.

VI. MISCELLANEOUS

ARTICLE 31 - NONDISCRIMINATION

31.1 The provisions of this agreement shall be applied equally to all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination because of age, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, race, color, creed, national origin, handicap, political affiliation or union membership. Any claimed violation of this Article over which the Connecticut

Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities and/or federal Equal Employment Opportunities Commission would have jurisdiction may be processed through the grievance procedure to the last step prior to arbitration; thereafter, any such claimed violation may be arbitrated only if so agreed by both parties.

ARTICLE 32 - COPIES OF THE CONTRACT

32.1 Within ninety (90) days after the signing of this Agreement, the City shall furnish a copy of this Agreement to each employee. New employees shall be given a copy of this Agreement at time of hire. The Union is to receive five (5) signed copies of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 33 - SAVINGS CLAUSE

33.1 If any section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Agreement shall be held for any reason to be inoperative, void or invalid, the validity of the remaining portions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby, it being the intention of the parties in adopting this Agreement that no portion thereof, or provision herein shall become inoperative or fail by reason of the invalidity of any other portion or provisions.

ARTICLE 34 - AMERICAN'S WITH DISABILITIES ACT

34.1 Subject to the parties' obligation to bargain pursuant to the Municipal Employees' Relations Act and the specific provision of this agreement, nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit the City from acting to comply with the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act. In the event of a dispute with respect to such action, the City may implement a proposed reasonable accommodation for the purpose of compliance with the ADA subject to the Union's right to challenge such action thereafter.

ARTICLE 35 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT

35.1 All provisions of this agreement shall be effective as of the first (1st) day of July 2022 and shall remain in full force and effect until the thirtieth (30th) day of June 2026. This agreement shall be automatically renewed from year to year thereafter, unless either party shall notify the other in writing not more than one hundred fifty (150) days nor less than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the expiration date that it desires to modify this agreement, In the event such notice is given, negotiations shall begin not later than ninety (90) days prior to the expiration date. In the event that either party desires to terminate this agreement, written notice must be given to the other party not less than ten (10) days prior to the expiration date.

ARTICLE 36 - AIRPORT CERTIFICATION SPECIALISTS (ACES)

36.1 Wages - ACES shall maintain their present Civil Service step increases until an employee reaches the highest step on the scale. For ACES and any other bargaining unit employees whose regular work week consists of four (4) ten (10) hours days, a week's vacation shall consist of four (4) work days and one (1) scheduled day off. For such employees, the per diem for purpose of holiday pay, paid personal days and paid sick days shall consist of ten (10) hours.

An employee who has successfully served in a provisional capacity for a period of one year shall be considered a permanent employee and shall not be subject to any future testing.

36.2 Any general wage increase negotiated by the parties on behalf of the entire bargaining unit will be added into the ACES step scale structure going forward for all ACES position, regardless of whether they are filled at the time.

ARTICLE 37 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISION

- 37.1 Civil Service Applicability The City and the Union agree that City employees who are covered by the Civil Service provisions of the city charter shall continue to remain covered by such civil service provisions of the City charter except where such provisions are superseded by this contract. This provision shall not be construed to limit or infringe any of the provisions of this contract. In the event positions in LIUNA are transferred to Civil Service, the City and the Union agree that current employees shall not be required to test for their position. Further, it is agreed that all positions within the Union shall be classified as non-competitive. In such event of a transfer, the parties agree to bargaining regarding the impact.
- 37.2 Drug and Alcohol Testing: The City reserves the right to conduct drug and alcohol testing as provided in Connecticut General Statutes section 31-51t through 31-51bb, inclusive, excluding section 31-51v and will use only laboratories properly certified by NIDA to conduct such test. In the event such test result is positive, the employee will be provided, on the first such occasion, an opportunity to be rehabilitated through referral to the City's Employee Assistance Program (EAP) provided that there is no underlying conduct or event to support a termination for just cause. After successfully completing the rehabilitation program, the employee may be subject to random drug and/or alcohol testing for a period of one (1) year. If the employee fails to complete the rehabilitation program or abide by its conditions, the City reserves the right to proceed with such disciplinary action as it considers appropriate for the underlying event or conduct, based upon just cause. Those employees required to have a CDL license, shall be subject to the Drug and Alcohol Policy applicable to CDL drivers.
- **37.3** School Department Employees Employees assigned to a school shall be excused with no loss of pay in the event of school cancellation, delayed opening or early

closing due to inclement weather. However, if the City is able to utilize these employees within the scope of their regular duties at an alternative site, the city can require employees to work under these circumstances. The site coordinators in the Board of Education, which positions are specified in the Attached Appendix D, shall receive the week off with pay during Christmas week when schools are not in session provided that such recess shall not exceed five (5) days exclusive of Christmas and New Year's day.

- **37.4** Department Heads retain sole discretion/authority for the assigning of take home vehicles.
- **37.5** All other terms and conditions of the current Collective Bargaining Agreement shall remain unchanged.

ARTICLE 38 - JOB RECLASSIFICATION

- **38.1** Effective June 1, 2009, the Union and the City will initiate a process to conduct a reclassification and job evaluation of existing LIUNA bargaining unit positions. Said process shall include a review of LIUNA bargaining unit positions and rewriting of existing job descriptions.
- **38.2** Said reclassification process shall employ an evaluation system identical or similar to the Position Appraisal Method (PAM)/Job Evaluation system developed by the Public Administration Service (PAS). Said PAM/PAS system utilizes a Point Rating Factor Comparison method of job evaluation. Each position within the bargaining unit is evaluated and rated using the same factors. The Union and the City may also agree to use a different job evaluation system, or they may agree to use the existing City of Bridgeport Civil Service System.
- 38.3 The above noted job evaluation process shall be conducted by a committee of four (4), two (2) members appointed by the City and two (2) members appointed by the Union. A fifth (5th) member shall be selected by the City and the Union and shall act as a facilitator to the committee for the purposes of conducting the job evaluation study. It is the intent of this agreement that the City and the Union will work together to complete the job evaluation process and establish mutually agreeable job descriptions, position rankings and ratings by December 31, 2009.
- **38.4** The reclassification process shall also include a salary and wage study of the existing LIUNA pay plan. It is also the intent of the parties that a new pay plan shall be developed that will employ a step system similar to what is presently in place for other Civil Service bargaining units in the City of Bridgeport.
- **38.5** The Union and the City may agree that certain LIUNA positions may be placed in wage schedules and receive step or salary adjustments to be effective July 1, 2010. If the City and the Union fail to agree, the entire job evaluation study or parts thereof

shall be referred to a neutral mediator or arbitrator selected by the parties who shall resolve any disputes concerning job descriptions, position rankings and ratings, and wage schedules including step or salary adjustments. Parties agree that the cost of the neutral arbitrator shall be borne equally by the parties.

- **38.6** No current LIUNA member shall be downgraded, or suffer financial loss, as a result of the implementation of the reclassification and job evaluation of existing bargaining unit positions.
- **38.7** LIUNA members, who are awarded promotional LIUNA positions in the future, shall be initially placed at the step of the promotional position that represents an actual compensation increase.

SIGNATURES		
In witness thereof on this hereto set their hands.	day of	, 2023, the parties
FOR THE CITY	FOR THE U	NION
Joseph P. Ganim, Mayor	Keith Brother Business Mar	rs, nager, LIUNA Local 1224
Eroll V. Skyers, Attorney		

APPENDIX A

Job Class	Job Desc	Job Group
G136	Nutritionist	2
9106	WIC Nutritionist	2
8439	Airport Certification Speciali	2A
G287	ADA Coordinator	3
G420	Anti Blight Technician	3
G274	Assistant Coordinator - V.A.	3
G381	Bilingual-Hiv Prevention Couns	3
G425	Community Inclusion Support Sp	3
G208	Community Project Coordinator	3
G181	Coordinator/Project Care	3
G326	Crime Analyst	3
G180	Crime Prevention Specialist	3
G130	Director R.S.V.P.	3
G282	Drug Treatment Advocacy Coordi	3
G125	Elderly Health Coordinator	3
G149	HIV Counselor	3
G160	HIV Intervention Specialist	3
G249	HIV Outreach Educator	3
G380	HIV Prevention Counselor/Case	3
8277	HIV Van Driver/Outreach Worker	3
G020	Illegal Dumping Coordinator	3
G139	Immunization Outreach Worker	3
G150	Needle Exchange Outreach Worke	3
G128	Outreach Educator	3
G409	Paths Coordinator	3
G358	Prevention Outreach Specialist	3
G370	Prevention Project/Case Manage	3
G369	Prevention Project/Paths Coord	3
G141	Program Coordinator-Fetal & In	3
6011	Program Site Monitor	3
G286	Program Site Monitor	3
G263	R.S.V.P. Assistant Director	3
G023	Recreation Coordinator	3
G350	Recreation Project Coordinator	3
G098	Social Service Coordinator	3
G163	Substance Abuse Specialist	3
G443	Transportation Coordinator (35	3
G304	Director of Veterans' Affairs	3
G379	Victim Advocate-Community Serv	3
G179	Victim Assistance Coordinator	3
G318	Weed And Seed Project Coordina	3
G209	Youth Program Manager	3
1217	Application Specialist	4
G043	Auditor	4
G397	Business Analyst	4
G059	CAD Data Coordinator	4

G030	Computer Operator	4
G328	Computer Specialist	4
G437	Data Architect	4
G164	Data Control Clerk	4
G284	Data Control Clerk	4
G048	Desk Clerk/Help	4
G040	Desk Dispatcher/Help	4
1218	GIS Technician	4
G211	Junior Programmer	4
G394	Network Analyst	4
G399	Network Analyst	4
1212	Network Architect	4
G323	PC Network Analyst	4
G039	PC Network/Application Analyst	4
G213	PC Specialist	4
G009	Program Analyst	4
G010	Programmer	4
G440	Project Specialist (35 Hrs)	4
G065	Senior Analyst	4
G400	Senior Computer Operator	4
G395	Senior PC Network Application	4
G396	Senior Programmer Analyst	4
1215	Server Specialist	4
G438	Support Specialist I (35 Hrs)	4
1211	Support Specialist II (35 Hrs)	4
G445	Support Specialist II (35 Hrs)	4
G331	Systems Programmer	4
G355	Accounting Coordinator	5
1135	Admin Asst To Bpd Dep Chf	5
1123	Administrative Assistant	5
1134	Administrative Assistant	5
G041	Administrative Assistant	5A
G042	Administrative Assistant/Offic	5
G340	Affirmative Action Specialist	5
G189	Benefits Coordinator	5
1055	Constituent Services	5
G334	Employee Benefits Coordinator	5
G172	Employee Services Assistant	5
0138	Executive Assistant	5
G299	Executive Assistant	5
G221	Human Resources Generalist	5
G199	Office Coordinator	5
G131	Office Manager	5
G230	Office Specialist	5
G167	Senior Office Manager	5
1130	Admin Assist CAO	5A
1131	Executive Assistant Finance	5A

1124	Executive Assistant Labor Rel	5 <i>A</i>
1132	Executive Assistant OPM	5 <i>A</i>
1053	Mayor'S Executive Secretary	5 <i>A</i>
G412	Mayor'S Executive Secretary(Ac	5 <i>A</i>
1254	Receptionist	5A
1255	Secretary	5 <i>A</i>
G099	Accountant	6
G119	Accountant For Federal/State G	6
G114	Administrative/IDIS Coordinatr	6
1320	Assistant Special Project Mana	6
1335	Assistant Special Project Mang	6
G382	Capitol Projects Fixed Assets	6
G289	Contract/Fiscal Coordinator	6
G106	Finance Officer	6
G004	Financial Manager	6
G389	Fiscal Quality Control Analyst	6
2308	IDIS/Finance Specialist	6
G255	Internal Audit Manager	6
G218	Internal Auditor	6
G293	Payroll Account Supervisor	6
G097	Payroll Processing Supervisor	6
G377	Property Tax Analyst	6
G442	Senior Payroll Administrator (6
G314	Special Projects Coordinator	6
1332	Special Projects Coordinator-P	6
G197	Special Revenue Manager	6
G195	Staff Internal Auditor	6
G223	Alarm Administrator	7
G292	Assistant Construction Manage	7
G373	Associate Dir Of Proj Mngt	7
G322	Business Recruiter	7
G112	Construction Manager	7
G422	Construction Monitor (35 Hours	7
G202	Construction Services Administ	7
G079	Contract Compliance Officer	7
G375	Deputy Director Of Economic De	7
G336	Deputy Director Of HRD	7
2307	Design Review Coordinator	7
G206	Development Program Specialist	7
G117	Director - Fair Housing	7
G225	Economic Development Associate	7
G028	Economic Development Specialis	7
1319	Grant Writer	7
G417	Grants Financial Manager(35Hrs	7
G071	Grants Writer	7
G243	Grantswriter/Senior Planner	7
G108	Housing Division Manager	7

G431	Housing Specialist (35 Hrs)	7
G291	Mgr Of Housing Construction &	7
G121	Monitor And Evaluation Coordin	7
G110	Neighborhood Coordinator	7
G046	Planner 2	7
G090	Planner 3	7
G342	Planner OPED	7
2305	Program Manager - CDBG	7
G251	Program Manager - ESG/HOPWA	7
2306	Program Manager - HOME	7
G418	Program Manager (35 Hrs)	7
G429	Program Manager (35 Hrs)	7
1327	Project Manager OPM Management	7
1326	Project Manager OPM Systems	7
G182	Project Mgr/Construction	7
G123	Real Estate Specialist	7
G107	Relocation Coordinator	7
G062	Research Analyst	7
G111	Senior Finance Specialist	7
G351	Sr. Economic Development Assoc	7
G275	Youth Coordinator	7
0098	Coordinator (NC)	8
0054	Coordinator-FRC	8
0056	Coordinator-Parent Center	8
0120	Detention Center Coordinator	8
0118	Program Site Monitor	8
0064	Quality Enhancement Coord.	8
0057	Sch. Readiness Coord.	8
0137	Site Facilitator	8
G450	Acting Director Of Finance/Com	
G398	Administrative Planner	
G372	Assistant Tax Assessor	
G415	Billing Coordinator (35Hrs)	
G014	Budget Coordinator	
G224	Capital Project Administrator	
G430	Community Organizer (35 Hrs)	
G345	Education Coordinator	
0168	Employment CoordLighthouse	
G035	Enterprise Community Neighborh	
0140	Exec. Asst./Info Sys. Coord.	
G092	Family Support Worker	
1329	Fiscal Administrator	
G317	Human Resources Coordinator	
1314	Internal Audit Manager	
G258	LGFS Coordinator	
G283	LPC Specialist	
G301	Office Aide	

G300	Photo Id Technician
G214	Programmer/Payroll
G032	Recycling Coordinator
G321	Re-Evaluation Coord.
2409	Rehabilitation & New Construct
G297	Safety Director
G316	Safety Specialist
0163	Secretary To Supt.
G294	Senior Financial Clerk
G325	Tape Librarian



A Great Opportunity for Very Valuable Healthcare Coverage

Welcome to the Connecticut (CT) Partnership Plan—a low-/no-deductible Point of Service (POS) plan now available to you (and your eligible dependents up to age 26) and other non-state public employees who work for municipalities, boards of education, quasi-public agencies, and public libraries.

The CT Partnership Plan is the same Expanded Access plan currently offered to State of Connecticut employees. You get the same great healthcare benefits that state employees get, including \$15 in-network office visits (average actual cost in CT: \$150*), free preventive care, and \$5 or \$10 generic drug copays for your maintenance drugs. You can see any provider (e.g., doctors, hospitals, other medical facilities) you want—in- or out-of network. But, when you see in-network providers, you pay less. That's because they contract with Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield (Anthem)—the plan's administrator—to charge lower rates for their services. You have access to Anthem's State Bluecare POS network in Connecticut, and access to doctors and hospitals across the country through the BlueCard® program.

When you join the CT Partnership Plan, the state's Health Enhancement Program (HEP) is included. HEP encourages you to get preventive care screenings, routine wellness visits, and chronic disease education and counseling. When you remain compliant with the specific HEP requirements on page 5, you get to keep the financial incentives of the HEP program!

Look inside for a summary of medical benefits, and or visit osc.ct.gov/ctpartner.



POS MEDICAL BENEFIT SUMMARY

BENEFIT FEATURE	IN-NETWORK	OUT-OF-NETWORK
Preventive Care (including adult and well-child exams and immunizations, routine gynecologist visits, mammograms, colonoscopy)	\$0	20% of allowable UCR* charges
Annual Deductible (amount you pay before the Plan starts paying benefits)	Individual: \$350 Family: \$350 per member (\$1,400 maximum) Waived for HEP-compliant members	Individual: \$300 Family: \$900
Coinsurance (the percentage of a covered expense you pay after you meet the Plan's annual deductible)	Not applicable	20% of allowable UCR* charges
Annual Out-of-Pocket Maximum (amount you pay before the Plan pays 100% of allowable/UCR* charges)	Individual: \$2,000 Family: 4,000	Individual: \$2,300 (includes deductible) Family: \$4,900 (includes deductible)
Primary Care Office Visits	\$15 copay (\$0 copay for Preferred Providers)	20% of allowable UCR* charges
Specialist Office Visits	\$15 COPAY (\$0 copay for Preferred Providers)	20% of allowable UCR* charges
Urgent Care & Walk-In Center Visits	\$15 copay	20% of allowable UCR* charges
Acupuncture (20 visits per year)	\$15 copay	20% of allowable UCR* charges
Chiropractic Care	\$0 copay	20% of allowable UCR* charges
Diagnostic Labs and X-Rays ¹ ** High Cost Testing (MRI, CAT, etc.)	\$0 copay (your doctor will need to get prior authorization for high-cost testing)	20% of allowable UCR* charges (you will need to get prior authorization for high-cost testing)
Durable Medical Equipment	\$0 (your doctor may need to get prior authorization)	20% of allowable UCR* charges (you may need to get prior authorization)

1 IN NETWORK: Within your carrier's immediate service area, no co-pay for preferred facility. 20% cost share at non-preferred facility. Outside your carrier's immediate service area: no co-pay.



POS MEDICAL BENEFIT SUMMARY

BENEFIT FEATURE	IN-NETWORK	OUT-OF-NETWORK
Emergency Room Care	\$250 copay (waived if admits	ed)\$250 copay (waived if admitted
Eye Exam (one per year)	\$15 copay	50% of allowable UCR* charges
**Infertility (based on medical necessity) Office Visit Outpatient or Inpatient Hospital Care	\$15 copay \$0	20% of allowable UCR* charges 20% of allowable UCR* charges
**Inpatient Hospital Stay	\$0	20% of allowable UCR* charges
Mental Healthcare/Substance Abuse Treatment **Inpatient	\$0	20% of allowable UCR* charges (you may need to get prior authorization)
Outpatient	\$15 copay	20% of allowable UCR* charges
Nutritional Counseling (Maximum of 3 visits per Covered Person per Calendar Year)	\$0	20% of allowable UCR* charges
**Outpatient Surgery	\$0	20% of allowable UCR* charges
**Physical/Occupational Therapy	\$0	20% of allowable UCR* charges up to 60 inpatient days and 30 outpatient days per condition per year
Foot Orthotics	\$0 (your doctor may need to get prior authorization)	20% of allowable UCR* charges (you may need to get prior authorization)
Speech therapy: Covered for treatment resulting from autism, stroke, tumor removal, injury or congenital anomalies of the oropharynx	\$0	Deductible plus Coinsurance (30 visits per Calendar Year)
Medically necessary treatment resulting from other causes is subject to Prior Authorization	\$0 (30 visits per Covered Person per Calendar Year)	Deductible plus Coinsurance (30 visits per Calendar Year)

^{*}Usual, Customary and Reasonable. You pay 20% coinsurance based on UCR, plus you pay 100% of amount provider bills you over UCR.

^{**} Prior authorization required: If you use in-network providers, your provider is responsible for obtaining prior authorization from Anthem. If you use out-of-network providers, you are responsible for obtaining prior authorization from Anthem.



Using Your Benefits

When you need information about your benefits...

CareCompass.CT.gov is your one-stop shop for benefits and general information on your coverage. Click Partnership to view medical, dental, pharmacy and vision benefit information.

- Access your personalized benefits portal at carecompass.quantum-health.com, or by clicking Sign In on the Care Compass home page
- To view forms, visit CareCompass.CT.gov/forms, or click the Forms button at the bottom of the Care Compass home page.

When you need benefits support...

You and any enrolled dependents can speak with a personal Care Coordinator (833-740-3258) for help understanding your benefits, finding a doctor, and dealing with the complexities of health care. Quantum Health makes it easier for you to navigate your benefits and access the right care for you by coordinating with your medical, pharmacy, and dental member service teams. Chat with a Care Coordinator 8:30 a.m. – 10 p.m., Monday – Friday, at 833-740-3258, or send a message through your secure portal.

Earn incentives

If you select a Provider of Distinction for a qualifying procedure, you can earn a cash reward!

Visit CareCompass.CT.gov/providersofdistinction to search by procedure, provider or facility, or call 833-740-3258 to speak with a personal Care Coordinator.

Doctors, hospitals and provider groups that meet the highest patient care standards are designated "Providers of Distinction." Providers of Distinction members will coordinate your care throughout your entire treatment process, from evaluation through recovery. The best providers within this program are identified as Centers of Excellence.

To view a full list of procedures and incentives, visit CareCompass.CT.gov/providersofdistinction/#incentives. Note: The amount of the reward varies by procedure and location.

When you need to find the best provider or to find a location for a routine lab test...

Visit **osc.ct.gov/ctpartner** then scroll to **Find Providers**.

You pay nothing—\$0 copay—for lab tests, if you visit a preferred Site of Service provider. To find a Site of Service provider, contact Anthem or **use the Find Care tool**.

When you're injured...

Your health plan has resources to help you through orthopedic injuries, from diagnosis to minor aches and pains, to surgery and recovery.

Get help diagnosing minor or lingering injuries through a virtual visit. Your provider will help create a rehab program you can do at home.

For surgical procedures, find the best providers for the care you need. Learn more at **CareCompass**. **CT.gov/orthopedics**.

Help Managing and Reversing Diabetes

Get help managing Type 1 or Type 2 Diabetes with Virta Health. Members are connected and supported with access to a diabetes health coach and receive free testing supplies and tips to manage their Alc. In the diabetes reversal program, where members with Type 2 Diabetes can learn to eat their way to better health with personalized nutrition plans and support from medical providers, professional coaches, and digital health tools.

Help Preventing Diabetes

If you have prediabetes, the digital Diabetes Prevention Program offered by Wellspark can help yo u prevent diabetes by focusing on lifestyle changes.

To learn more about these programs, visit **CareCompass.CT.gov/diabetes**.



Prescription Drugs	Maintenance ⁺ (31-to-90-day su	Non-Maintenance pply) (up to 30-day supply)	HEP Chronic Conditions
Generic (preferred/non-preferre	ed)** \$5/\$10	\$5/\$10	\$0
Preferred/Listed Brand Name Drugs	\$25	\$25	\$5
Non-Preferred/Non-Listed Brand Name Drugs	\$40	\$40	\$12.50
Annual Out-of-Pocket Maximum	\$4,600 Individual/	(\$9,200 Family	

- + Initial 30-day supply at retail pharmacy is permitted. Thereafter, 90-day supply is required—through mail-order or at a retail pharmacy participating in the State of Connecticut Maintenance Drug Network.
- ++ Prescriptions are filled automatically with a generic drug if one is available, unless the prescribing physician submits a Coverage Exception Request attesting that the brand name drug is medically necessary.

Preferred and Non-Preferred Brand-Name Drugs

A drug's tier placement is determined by Caremark's Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee, which reviews tier placement each quarter. If new generics have become available, new clinical studies have been released, new brand-name drugs have become available, etc., the Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee may change the tier placement of a drug.

If your doctor believes a non-preferred brandname drug is medically necessary for you, they will need to complete the Coverage Exception Request form (available at www.osc.ct.gov/ctpartner) and fax it to Caremark. If approved, you will pay the preferred brand co-pay amount.

If You Choose a Brand Name When a Generic Is Available

Prescriptions will be automatically filled with a generic drug if one is available, unless your doctor completes Caremark's Coverage Exception Request form and it is approved. (It is not enough for your doctor to note "dispense as written" on your prescription; a separate form is required.) If you request a brand-name drug over a generic alternative without obtaining a coverage exception, you will pay the generic drug co-pay PLUS the difference in cost between the brand and generic drug.

Mandatory 90-day Supply for Maintenance Medications

If you or your family member takes a maintenance medication, you are required to get your maintenance prescriptions as 90-day fills. You will be able to get your first 30-day fill of that medication at any participating pharmacy. After that your two choices are:

- Receive your medication through the Caremark mail-order pharmacy, or
- Fill your medication at a pharmacy that participates in the State's Maintenance Drug Network (see the list of participating pharmacies on www.osc.ct.gov/ctpartner) and scroll down to Pharmacy under Benefit Summaries.)

The Health Enhancement Program (HEP) is a component of the medical plan and has several important benefits. First, it helps you and your family work with your medical providers to get and stay healthy. Second, it saves you money on your healthcare. Third, it will save money for the Partnership Plan long term by focusing healthcare dollars on prevention.

Health Enhancement Program Requirements

You and your enrolled family members must get age-appropriate wellness exams, early diagnosis screenings (such as colorectal cancer screenings, Pap tests, mammograms, and vision exams). Here are the 2023 HEP Requirements:

PREVENTIVE	AGE						
SCREENINGS	0-5	6-17	18-24	25-29	30-39	40-49	50+
Preventive Visit	1 per year	1 every other year	Every 3 years	Every 3 years	Every 3 years	Every 2 years	Every year
Vision Exam	N/A	N/A	Every 7 years	Every 7 years	Every 7 years	Every 4 years	50-64: Every 3 years 65+: Every 2 years
Dental Cleanings*	N/A	At least 1 per year	At least 1 per year	At least 1 per year			
Cholesterol Screening	N/A	N/A	Every 5 years (20+)	Every 5 years	Every 5 years	Every 5 years	Every 5 years
Breast Cancer Screening (Mammogram)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	1 screening between age 45-49**	As recommended by physician
Cervical Cancer Screening (Pap Smear)	N/A	N/A	Every 3 years (21+)	Every 3 years	Pap smear only every 3 years or Pap and HPV combo screening every 5 years	Pap smear only every 3 years or Pap and HPV combo screening every 5 years	Pap smear only every 3 years or Pap and HPV combo screening every 5 years to age 65
Colorectal Cancer Screening ¹	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	45+: Colonos Annual FIT/	0-44: N/A copy every 10 years, FOBT to age 75 or eening every 3 years

Dental cleanings are required for family members who are participating in a dental plan sponsored by your employer Or as recommended by your physician

For those with a chronic condition: The household must meet all preventive and chronic requirements to be compliant.

6

To check your Health Enhancement Program compliance status, visit CareCompass.CT.gov, then sign in or register for your Quantum Health benefits portal. To view your status, click the My Health tab in your portal.

You can also download the MyQHealth app on the App Store or Google Play.

42

NEW: colorectal screening age requirements lowered to 45 years of age for calendar year 2022 as recommended by US Task Force on Preventive Services



Additional Requirements for Those With Certain Conditions

If you or any enrolled family member has 1) Diabetes (Type 1 or 2), 2) asthma or COPD, 3) heart disease/heart failure, 4) hyperlipidemia (high cholesterol), or 5) hypertension (high blood pressure), you and/or that family member will be required to participate in a disease education and counseling program for that particular condition. You will receive free office visits and reduced pharmacy copays for treatments related to your condition.

These particular conditions are targeted because they account for a large part of our total healthcare costs and have been shown to respond particularly well to education and counseling programs. By participating in these programs, affected employees and family members will be given additional resources to improve their health.

If You Do Not Comply with the requirements of HEP

If you or any enrolled dependent becomes non-compliant in HEP, your premiums will be \$100 per month higher and you will have an annual \$350 per individual (\$1,400 per family) in-network medical deductible.

Quantum Health is the administrator for the Health Enhancement Program (HEP) and gives you access to your personalized health benefits portal. The HEP participant portal features tips and tools to help you manage your health and your HEP requirements. Login to your personal benefit portal at carecompass quantum-health. com to:

- View HEP preventive and chronic requirements and download HEP forms
- · Check your HEP preventive and chronic compliance status
- Complete your chronic condition education and counseling compliance requirement
- Send a secure message to a Care Coordinator for benefits assistance
- Connect you to your medical, pharmacy, dental and other healthcare services covered in your plan- with just one login.

Quantum Health: (833)740-3258, 8:30 a.m.-10 p.m. ET, Mon.-Fri.

43

7



YOUR BENEFIT RESOURCES

Office of the State Comptroller, Healthcare Policy & Benefit Services Division

www.osc.ct.gov/ctpartner

860-702-3560

General benefit questions, Medical, and Health Enhancement Program (HEP)

Quantum Health
CareCompass.CT.gov or login to your benefits portal from Care Compass
833-740-3258

Prescription drug benefits

CVS Caremark
CareCompass.CT.gov/state/pharmacy or login to your benefits portal from Care Compass
1-800-318-2572

For details about specific plan benefits and network providers, contact the insurance carrier. If you have questions about eligibility, enrolling in the plans or payroll deductions, contact your Payroll/Human Resources office.



SEE HEALTHY AND LIVE HAPPY WITH HELP FROM CITY OF BRIDGEPORT AND VSP.



Enroll in VSP® Vision Care to get personalized care from a VSP network doctor at low out-of-pocket costs.

VALUE AND SAVINGS YOU LOVE.

Save on eyewear and eye care when you see a VSP network doctor. Plus, take advantage of Exclusive Member Extras for additional savings.

PROVIDER CHOICES YOU WANT.

With an average of five VSP network doctors within six miles of you, it's easy to find a nearby in-network doctor. Plus, maximize your coverage with bonus offers and additional savings that are exclusive to Premier Program locations.



Like shopping online? Go to **eyeconic.com** and use your vision benefits to shop over 50 brands of contacts, eyeglasses, and sunglasses.

QUALITY VISION CARE YOU NEED.

You'll get great care from a VSP network doctor, including a WellVision Exam®—a comprehensive exam designed to detect eye and health conditions.



USING YOUR BENEFIT IS EASY!

Create an account on **vsp.com** to view your in-network coverage, find the VSP network doctor who's right for you, and discover savings with exclusive member extras. At your appointment, just tell them you have VSP.

Enroll today.

Contact us: 800.877.7195 or vsp.com

YOUR VSP VISION BENEFITS SUMMARY

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT and VSP provide you with an affordable vision plan.

PROVIDER NETWORK:

VSP Signature



01/01/2020



BENEFIT	DESCRIPTION	COPAY	FREQUENCY
	YOUR COVERAGE WITH A VSP PROVIDER		
WELLVISION EXAM	 Focuses on your eyes and overall wellness 	\$20	Every 12 months
PRESCRIPTION GLASSE	S IN THE PROPERTY OF THE PARTY	\$30	See frame and lenses
FRAME	 \$105 allowance for a wide selection of frames \$125 allowance for featured frame brands 20% savings on the amount over your allowance \$60 Costco® frame allowance 	Included in Prescription Glasses	Every 24 months
LENSES	 Single vision, lined bifocal, and lined trifocal lenses Impact-resistant lenses for dependent children 	Included in Prescription Glasses	Every 12 months
LENS ENHANCEMENTS	 Standard progressive lenses Premium progressive lenses Custom progressive lenses Average savings of 35-40% on other lens enhancements 	\$50 \$80 - \$90 \$120 - \$160	Every 12 months
CONTACTS (INSTEAD OF GLASSES)	 \$105 allowance for contacts and contact lens exam (fitting and evaluation) 15% savings on a contact lens exam (fitting and evaluation) 	\$O	Every 12 months
DIABETIC EYECARE PLUS PROGRAM ^{5M}	 Retinal screening for members with diabetes Additional exams and services for members with diabetic eye disease, glaucoma, or age-related macular degeneration. Limitations and coordination with your medical coverage may apply. Ask your VSP doctor details. 	\$0 \$20 per exam	As needed
EXTRA SAVINGS	Glasses and Sunglasses Extra \$20 to spend on featured frame brands. Go to vsp.com/of 30% savings on additional glasses and sunglasses, including lens on the same day as your WellVision Exam. Or get 20% from any WellVision Exam. Routine Retinal Screening No more than a \$39 copay on routine retinal screening as an ental Laser Vision Correction Average 15% off the regular price or 5% off the promotional price facilities After surgery, use your frame allowance (if eligible) for sunglasses	enhancements, from VSP provider with the nancement to a Wee; discounts only a	ellVision Exam

YOUR COVERAGE WITH OUT-OF-NETWORK PROVIDERS

Get the most out of your benefits and greater savings with a VSP network doctor. Call Member Services for out-of-network plan details.

Coverage with a retail chain may be different or not apply. Log in to **vsp.com** to check your benefits for eligibility and to confirm in-network locations based on your plan type. VSP guarantees coverage from VSP network providers only. Coverage information is subject to change. In the event of a conflict between this information and your organization's contract with VSP, the terms of the contract will prevail. Based on applicable laws, benefits may vary by location. In the state of Washington, VSP Vision Care, Inc., is the legal name of the corporation through which VSP does business.

^{*}Only available to VSP members with applicable plan benefits. Frame brands and promotions are subject to change, Savings based on doctor's retail price and vary by plan and purchase selection; average savings determined after benefits are applied, Ask your VSP network doctor for more details.

APPENDIX D

Cigna Dental Benefit Summary Bridgeport, City & Board of Education City Employees Only Plan Renewal Date: 07/01/2023



Administered by: Cigna Health and Life Insurance Company

This material is for informational purposes only and is designed to highlight some of the benefits available under this plan. Consult the plan documents to determine specific terms of coverage relating to your plan. Terms include covered procedures, applicable waiting periods, exclusions and limitations. Your DPPO plan allows you to see any licensed dentist, but using an in-network dentist may minimize your out-of-pocket expenses.

	Cigna D	ental PPO		
Network Options	In-Network: Total Cigna DPPO Network		Non-Network: See Non-Network Reimbursen	
Reimbursement Levels	Based on C	ontracted Fees	Maximum Reim	bursable Charge
Calendar Year Benefits Maximum Applies to: Class I, II & III expenses	\$1	,000	\$1,	000
Calendar Year Deductible Individual Family	7	25 75		25 75
Benefit Highlights	Plan Pays	You Pay	Plan Pays	You Pay
Class I: Diagnostic & Preventive Oral Evaluations Prophylaxis: routine cleanings X-rays: routine X-rays: non-routine Fluoride Application Sealants: per tooth Space Maintainers: non-orthodontic Emergency Care to Relieve Pain (Note: This service is administrated at the in network coinsurance level.)	100% No Deductible	No Charge	100% No Deductible	No Charge
Class II: Basic Restorative Restorative: fillings Endodontics: minor and major Periodontics: minor and major Oral Surgery: minor and major Anesthesia: general and IV sedation Repairs: bridges, crowns and inlays Repairs: dentures Denture Relines, Rebases and Adjustments	80% After Deductible	20% After Deductible	80% After Deductible	20% After Deductible
Class III: Major Restorative Inlays and Onlays Prosthesis Over Implant Crowns: prefabricated stainless steel / resin Crowns: permanent cast and porcelain Bridges and Dentures	50% After Deductible	50% After Deductible	50% After Deductible	50% After Deductible

Benefit Plan Provisions:	P ' '111 C' P (1000) 11 C' C' P (1001) 1
In-Network Reimbursement	For services provided by a Cigna Dental PPO network dentist, Cigna Dental will reimburse the dentist according to a Fee Schedule or Discount Schedule.
Non-Network Reimbursement	For services provided by a non-network dentist, Cigna Dental will reimburse according to the Maximum Reimbursable Charge. The MRC is calculated at the 90th percentile of all provider submitted amounts in the geographic area. The dentist may balance bill up to their usual fees.
Cross Accumulation	All deductibles, plan maximums, and service specific maximums cross accumulate between in and out of network. Benefit frequency limitations are based on the date of service and cross accumulate between in and out of network.
Calendar Year Benefits Maximum	The plan will only pay for covered charges up to the yearly Benefits Maximum, when applicable. Benefit-specific Maximums may also apply.
Calendar Year Deductible	This is the amount you must pay before the plan begins to pay for covered charges, when applicable. Benefit-specific deductibles may also apply.
Carryover Provision	Dental Expenses incurred and applied toward the Individual or Family Deductible during the last 3 months of the calendar year will be applied toward the next year's Deductible.
Pretreatment Review	Pretreatment review is available on a voluntary basis when dental work in excess of \$200 is proposed.
Alternate Benefit Provision	When more than one covered Dental Service could provide suitable treatment based on common dental standards, Cigna will determine the covered Dental Service on which payment will be based and the expenses that will be included as Covered Expenses.
Oral Health Integration Program*	The Cigna Dental Oral Health Integration Program offers enhanced dental coverage for customers with certain medical conditions. There is no additional charge to participate in the program. Those who qualify can receive reimbursement of their coinsurance for eligible dental services. Eligible customers can also receive guidance on behavioral issues related to oral health. Reimbursements under this program are not subject to the annual deductible, but will be applied to the plan annual maximum. For more information on how to enroll in this program and a complete list of terms and eligible conditions, go to www.mycigna.com or call customer service 24/7 at 1-800-Cigna24.
Timely Filing	Out of network claims submitted to Cigna after 365 days from date of service will be denied.
Benefit Limitations:	
Missing Tooth Limitation	For teeth missing prior to coverage with Cigna, the amount payable is 50% of the amount otherwise payable until covered for 24 months; thereafter, considered a Class III expense.
Oral Evaluations/Exams	2 per calendar year.
X-rays (routine)	Bitewings: 2 per calendar year.
X-rays (non-routine)	Complete series of radiographic images and panoramic radiographic images: Limited to a combine total of 1 per 36 months.
Cleanings	2 per calendar year, including periodontal maintenance procedures following active therapy.
Fluoride Application	1 per calendar year for children under age 19.
Sealants (per tooth)	Limited to posterior tooth. 1 treatment per tooth every 36 months for children under age 14.
Space Maintainers	Limited to non-orthodontic treatment for children under age 19.
Crowns, Bridges, Dentures and Partials	Replacement every 60 months if unserviceable and cannot be repaired. Benefits are based on the amount payable for non-precious metals. No porcelain or white/tooth-colored material on molar crowns or bridges.
Denture and Bridge Repairs	Reviewed if more than once.
Denture Relines, Rebases and Adjustments	Covered if more than 6 months after installation.
Prosthesis Over Implant	Replacement every 60 months if unserviceable and cannot be repaired. Benefits are based on the amount payable for non-precious metals. No porcelain or white/tooth-colored material on molar crowns or bridges.

Benefit Exclusions:

Covered Expenses will not include, and no payment will be made for the following:

- Procedures and services not included in the list of covered dental expenses;
- · Diagnostic: cone beam imaging;
- Preventive Services: instruction for plaque control, oral hygiene and diet;
- Restorative: veneers of porcelain, ceramic, resin, or acrylic materials on crowns or pontics on or replacing the upper and or lower first, second and/or third molars;
- Periodontics: bite registrations; splinting;
- Prosthodontic: precision or semi-precision attachments;
- Implants: implants or implant related services;
- Orthodontics: orthodontic treatment;
- Procedures, appliances or restorations, except full dentures, whose main purpose is to change vertical dimension, diagnose or treat conditions of dysfunction of the temporomandibular joint (TMJ), stabilize periodontally involved teeth or restore occlusion;
- · Athletic mouth guards;
- · Services performed primarily for cosmetic reasons;
- Personalization or decoration of any dental device or dental work;
- Replacement of an appliance per benefit guidelines;
- Services that are deemed to be medical in nature;
- Services and supplies received from a hospital;
- · Drugs: prescription drugs;
- Charges in excess of the Maximum Reimbursable Charge.

This document provides a summary only. It is not a contract. If there are any differences between this summary and the official plan documents, the terms of the official plan documents will prevail.

Product availability may vary by location and plan type and is subject to change. All group dental insurance policies and dental benefit plans contain exclusions and limitations. For costs and details of coverage, review your plan documents or contact a Cigna representative.

A copy of the NH Dental Outline of Coverage is available and can be downloaded at Health Insurance & Medical Forms for Customers | Cigna under Dental Forms.

All Cigna products and services are provided exclusively by or through operating subsidiaries of Cigna Corporation, including Cigna Health and Life Insurance Company (CHLIC), Connecticut General Life Insurance Company, and Cigna Dental Health, Inc.

© 2023Cigna / version 03062023

APPENDIX E

Benefits Elegibility Based on Date of Hire

		(1) - Crandfatharad under 15/55 sule for raticos madis	al honofite /Llice	d an ar hafara ((20/2000)		
Applicable	Annlicable	(1) = Grandfathered under 15/55 rule for retiree medical benefits (Hired on or before 6/30/2009) (2) = Healthcare Premium Cost Share (PCS) capped at 25% (Hired on or before 12/17/2010)					
Benefits	Benefits	(3) = Eligible for retiree healthcare if qualifications met (Hired on or before 12/31/2015)					
(Serv	(Pos Hire	(4) = Not eligible for retiree healthcare benefits (Hired after 12/31/2015)					
Date)	Date)	Emp# Job Class Description	Hire Date		Original Date		
	(4)	10912 PROJECT MANAGER OPM MANAGEMENT	07/01/2022	03/03/2008	03/03/2008		
(1) (2) (3)	(4)	12369 COORDINATOR-FRC	04/05/2018	07/01/2009	01/24/2008		
(2) (3) (1) (2) (3)	(1) (2) (3)	15039 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST	01/12/2009	01/12/2009	01/12/2009		
	(1) (2) (3)	15079 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST	02/24/2009	02/24/2009	02/24/2009		
(1) (2) (3)	(1) (2) (3) (1) (2) (3)	18888 SCH. READINESS COORD.	01/27/1998	01/27/1998	01/27/1998		
(1) (2) (3) (1) (2) (3)	(4)	19528 YOUTH PROGRAM MANAGER	02/20/2018	01/27/1338	01/23/2001		
(1) (2) (3)	(1) (2) (3)	19676 RECEPTIONIST	04/15/2002	08/07/2002	04/15/2002		
(1) (2) (3)	(4)	19686 ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT	04/24/2017	03/05/2001	03/05/2001		
(1)(2)(3)	(4)	19706 ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT	06/24/2016	11/08/2004	11/08/2004		
(1) (2) (3)	(1) (2) (3)	19776 SUPPORT SPECIALIST I (35 HRS)	04/24/2006	01/06/1992	01/06/1992		
(1) (2) (3)	(4)	23226 PROGRAM MANAGER - ESG/HOPWA	08/17/2022	12/15/1997	10/06/1997		
(1) (2) (3)	(1) (2) (3)	23856 CONSTITUENT SERVICES	02/13/2004	02/13/2004	02/13/2004		
(1) (2) (3)	(1) (2) (3)	28156 SUPPORT SPECIALIST II (35 HRS)	04/24/2006	07/17/1981	07/17/1981		
(1) (2) (3)	(2) (3)	52036 ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT	02/08/2010	09/28/1996	10/30/1995		
(1) (2) (3)	(1) (2) (3)	65489 RECREATION COORDINATOR	03/07/2005	03/20/1990	03/07/2005		
(1) (2) (3)	(1) (2) (3)	71686 TRANSPORTATION COORDINATOR (35	12/19/2005	09/14/2004	09/13/2004		
(1) (2) (3)	(4)	75123 ADMIN ASSIST CAO	02/03/2020	07/24/1994	06/16/1994		
(1) (2) (3)	(2) (3)	75343 SENIOR PAYROLL ADMINISTRATOR (11/02/2009	06/05/1999	06/05/1999		
(4)	(4)	200257 PROGRAM MANAGER - CDBG	04/10/2023	09/12/2016	06/30/2008		
(2) (3)	(2) (3)	200607 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST ASST	08/24/2009	08/24/2009	08/24/2009		
(2) (3)	(2) (3)	200705 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST	08/24/2009	08/24/2009	08/24/2009		
(2) (3)	(2) (3)	200824 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST ASST	11/23/2009	11/23/2009	11/23/2009		
(2) (3)	(4)	207643 ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT	05/10/2018	05/10/2010	05/10/2010		
(3)	(3)	209103 OFFICE COORDINATOR	12/15/2015	03/17/2015	06/07/2010		
(2) (3)	(3)	210175 COORDINATOR-FRC	10/09/2012	11/08/2010	7. V. V.		
(4)	(4)	210947 ASSISTANT SPECIAL PROJECT MANG	02/13/2023	12/27/2016	06/23/2011		
(3)	(3)	211127 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST	10/14/2011	10/14/2011	10/14/2011		
(3)	(4)	211432 EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT	04/24/2017	12/12/2011	12/12/2011		
(3)	(3)	212225 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST	11/19/2012	11/19/2012	11/19/2012		
(3)	(3)	213349 SR. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ASSOC	03/31/2014	03/31/2014	03/31/2014		
(3)	(3)	213460 CAPITOL PROJECTS FIXED ASSETS	06/16/2014	06/16/2014	06/16/2014		
(3)	(3)	214066 SUPPORT SPECIALIST II (35 HRS)	10/27/2014				
(3)	(4)	214074 SUPPORT SPECIALIST II (35 HRS)	05/02/2022	11/06/2014			
(4)	(4)	214292 PROGRAM SITE MONITOR	12/10/2018	12/10/2018			
(4)	(4)	214733 ASSOCIATE DIR OF PROJ MNGT	03/28/2023	11/11/2016	08/17/2015		
(4)	(4)	214974 ADMINISTRATIVE/IDIS COORDINATR	08/17/2022	04/28/2017			
(4)	(4)	215136 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS COORDINATOR	04/05/2021	10/24/2016	12/21/2015		
(4)	(4)	215381 ANTI BLIGHT TECHNICIAN	04/12/2021	04/12/2021	05/02/2016		
(4)	(4)	215653 PROGRAM MANAGER - HOME	08/17/2022	07/25/2016	07/25/2016		
(4)	(4)	215952 AIRPORT CERTIFICATION SPECIALI	06/21/2022	07/14/2018			
(4)	(4)	215993 CRIME ANALYST	10/17/2016	10/17/2016			
(4)	(4)	216110 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST ASST	01/09/2017				
(-)	(+)	ETOTTO OCCOLUTIONAL HIGHMINI NO MOST	01/03/2017	01/03/2011	01,00,201		

Applicable Applicable **Benefits Benefits** (Serv (Pos Hire Date) **Hire Date** Service Date Original Date Date) Emp # Job Class Description 218215 MGR OF HOUSING CONSTRUCTION & 02/19/2019 02/19/2019 02/19/2019 (4)(4) (4)(4) 218343 NETWORK ARCHITECT 06/10/2019 06/10/2019 06/10/2019 (4) (4)218352 RECREATION COORDINATOR 02/12/2022 02/12/2022 06/17/2019 (4)04/05/2021 04/05/2021 04/05/2021 (4)219811 SERVER SPECIALIST (4) (4) 219832 ANTI BLIGHT TECHNICIAN 04/26/2021 04/26/2021 04/26/2021 06/21/2021 06/21/2021 (4) (4) 219930 GRANT WRITER 06/21/2021 (4) (4)220246 ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 08/09/2021 08/09/2021 08/09/2021 08/23/2021 08/23/2021 (4)(4) 220377 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST ASST 08/23/2021 (4)(4) 220378 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST ASST 08/23/2021 08/23/2021 08/23/2021 (4)(4)220436 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST ASST 08/23/2021 08/23/2021 08/23/2021 (4)220456 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST 08/30/2021 08/30/2021 08/30/2021 (4)09/07/2021 (4)(4) 220474 HUMAN RESOURCES GENERALIST 07/01/2022 09/07/2021 11/29/2021 (4)220671 PLANNER 2 11/29/2021 11/29/2021 (4)(4) (4)220678 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST 12/02/2021 12/02/2021 12/02/2021 (4) 220741 DESIGN REVIEW COORDINATOR 01/03/2022 01/03/2022 01/03/2022 (4)(4)(4)220766 VICTIM ASSISTANCE COORDINATOR 01/17/2022 01/17/2022 01/17/2022 (4)220816 SR. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ASSOC 03/01/2022 03/01/2022 03/01/2022 (4)(4)(4) 220949 ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 05/31/2022 05/31/2022 05/31/2022 (4)(4)220963 PLANNER OPED 06/06/2022 06/06/2022 06/06/2022 (4)220988 GIS TECHNICIAN 06/21/2022 06/21/2022 06/21/2022 (4)08/01/2022 08/01/2022 221290 ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 08/01/2022 (4)(4)(4)(4)221408 DATA ARCHITECT 08/15/2022 08/15/2022 08/15/2022 10/11/2022 10/11/2022 (4)(4)221598 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST 10/11/2022 (4) (4)221873 SUPPORT SPECIALIST II (35 HRS) 02/13/2023 02/18/2023 02/13/2023 222348 AIRPORT CERTIFICATION SPECIALI 07/17/2023 (4)(4)07/17/2023 07/17/2023 (4)(4)222578 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST ASST 08/28/2023 08/28/2023 08/28/2023 09/18/2023 09/18/2023 (4)(4)222701 CONTRACT COMPLIANCE OFFICER 09/18/2023

APPENDIX F

Agreement Regarding Premium Cost Share (PCS) Contributions for New Members

This agreement is between the City of Bridgeport (hereinafter the "City"), the Laborers International Union of North America (LIUNA), Local 200 (hereinafter the "Union").

The parties above hereby agree to the following:

- 1. The intent of this agreement is to clarify the percent (%) amount of premium cost share (PCS) to be paid by new members of the union and to illuminate the distinction between new members of the union hired by the City on or before December 17, 2010 and those hired after December 17, 2010.
- 2. Members of the Union, or new members to the Union by virtue of an intra-City transfer, who were hired on or before December 17, 2010 and who were regular full time employees on said date shall have their PCS contribution capped at twenty five percent (25%) for their health care insurance.
- 3. The 25% PCS cap shall remain in effect for said members throughout their period of employment with the City, and throughout retirement for those employees who fully satisfy the eligibility requirements for health benefits coverage at the time of their retirement.
- 4. New members to the Union, regardless of hire date, who were hired after December 17, 2010 shall pay a PCS contribution for their health care insurance according to the following schedule:

December 18, 2010	25%
July 1, 2011	26%
July 1, 2012	27%
July 1, 2013	28%

PCS shall increase by 1% per year on July 1st of each year, until a cap of 50% is reached.

Said premium contribution shall be the above named amount (percentage) regardless of the coverage category: employee only, employee plus one, or employee plus family.

- 5. Employees covered under item 2 of this agreement who separate from City employment for more than 180 calendar days for any reason other than those mentioned in the following sentence, shall, if re-hired by the City, be treated as new employees according to the terms and conditions of item 3 above. Exceptions to this provision are:
 - a) Employees recalled from layoff from an unexpired recall list.
 - b) Employees returning from any type of City approved leave of absence, and within the time frames specified in the leave: e.g., military leave, medical leave, personal leave of absence, etc.
- 6. This agreement covers PCS contributions for health care insurance (medical and prescription coverage) as generally provided by the City in 2011. This agreement shall not apply to new or substantially altered benefits plans not currently offered by the City, which may be instituted by the City or offered to its employees in the future.
- 7. This agreement shall not constitute a practice or precedent under the collective bargaining agreement between the City and the Union. The Union will not cite or otherwise utilize this agreement or any of the substantive terms, in any grievance, arbitration (either grievance or binding interest) or any proceeding except for such proceeding to enforce the terms and conditions of this agreement.

FOR THE CITY

Lawrence E. Osborne

Director - Labor Relations

FOR THE UNION

Valerie Sorrentino

Business Manager

Date

APPENDIX G

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT between

[City of Bridgeport.

and

[LIUNA]

The undersigned Parties hereby agree as follows:

Plan Changes

Effective October 1, 2018, in lieu of the existing health plan offered to employees and retirees (hereinafter "plan participants") administered by CIGNA and Express Scripts, Inc., the Parties agree to switch plan participants to the State of Connecticut Partnership 2.0 Plan (Plan). If at any time the City determines that the cost and/or any of the Plan's components are no longer competitive, the City may terminate the Partnership 2.0 Plan and revert back to the plan design as it existed in the CBA on September 30, 2018. Further, plan participants are subject to Plan changes as the Plan may be amended from time to time.

2. Employee Contribution

- a. Employees shall contribute towards the cost of the Partnership 2.0 Plan in accordance with currently negotiated terms and conditions of the collective bargaining agreement as they pertain to employee/retiree healthcare premium cost share contributions.
- b. A component of the Partnership 2.0 Plan is the Health Enhancement Program (HEP) pursuant to which participants must comply with certain health screenings requirements and procedures, the failure to comply with which results in financial penalties including additional monthly costs. In addition to the cost-sharing referenced in (a) above, employees who are non-compliant or whose dependents are non-compliant with HEP, shall also be responsible for paying the penalties, which will be added to their PCS contribution.

3. Providers

The City of Bridgeport, in conjunction with United Healthcare, will work with Union to bring any providers currently used by members who are not part of the United Healthcare Network, into the Plan.

[LIUNA Local 1224]

{LIUNA HEALTHCARE AGREEMENT}

Page 1 of 1

APPENDIX H

Tentative Agreement
Between
City of Bridgeport
And
LIUNA

Contract Date	Wage	PCS	Buy-Out
1. 7/1/2009 to 6/30/2010	0%	12%	\$ 500.00
2. 7/1/2010 to 12/31/2010	0%	15%	\$1,500.00
3. 1/1/2011 to 6/30/2011	3%	18%	\$1,500.00
4. 7/1/2011 to 6/30/2012	2%	21%	\$2,000.00
5. 7/1/2012 to 6/30/2013	2%	25%	\$2,000.00 Capped

- The City agrees there will be no lay-offs of current LIUNA members through December 31, 2010. Except, this shall not apply in cases where grant funding expires.
- Effective June 1, 2009, the Union and the City will initiate a process to conduct a
 reclassification and job evaluation of existing LIUNA bargaining unit positions. Said
 process shall include a review of LIUNA bargaining unit positions and rewriting of existing
 job descriptions.

Said reclassification process shall employ an evaluation system identical or similar to the Position Appraisal Method (PAM)/Job Evaluation system developed by the Public Administration Service (PAS). Said PAM/PAS system utilizes a Point Rating Factor Comparison method of job evaluation. Each position within the bargaining unit is evaluated and rated using the same factors. The Union and the City may also agree to use a different job evaluation system, or they may agree to use the existing City of Bridgeport Civil Service system.

The above noted job evaluation process shall be conducted by a committee of four (4), two (2) members appointed by the City and two (2) members appointed by the Union. A fifth (5th) member shall be selected by the City and the Union and shall act as a facilitator to the committee for the purposes of conducting the job evaluation study. It is the intent of this agreement that the City and the Union will work together to complete the job evaluation process and establish mutually agreeable job descriptions, position rankings and ratings by December 31, 2009.

The reclassification process shall also include a salary and wage study of the existing LIUNA pay plan. It is also the intent of the parties that a new pay plan shall be developed that will employ a step system similar to what is presently in place for other Civil Service bargaining units in the City of Bridgeport.

June 8, 2009

The Union and the City may agree that certain LIUNA positions may be placed in wage schedules and receive step or salary adjustments to be effective July 1, 2010. If the City and the Union fail to agree, the entire job evaluation study or parts thereof shall be referred to a neutral mediator or arbitrator selected by the parties who shall resolve any disputes concerning job descriptions, position rankings and ratings, and wage schedules including step or salary adjustments. Parties agree that the cost of the neutral arbitrator shall be borne equally by the parties.

No current LIUNA member shall be downgraded, or suffer financial loss, as a result of the implementation of the reclassification and job evaluation of existing bargaining unit positions.

LIUNA members, who are awarded promotional LIUNA positions in the future, shall be initially placed at the step of the promotional position that represents an actual compensation increase.

• Effective July 1, 2009 the provisions of the collective bargaining agreement that apply to employees who retire, shall be changed to define future retirees as:

"for purposes of this contract "retirees" shall mean employees who: (a) have completed twenty-five (25) years of continuous municipal service regardless of age: and (b) are eligible to receive full pension benefits in accordance with the retirement qualification provisions of MERF Fund B"

In addition, any newly hired or promoted employees into a LIUNA bargaining unit position shall only receive the above benefits after twenty-five (25) years of service.

Any current LIUNA member, listed on the attached Appendix, who may in the future change jobs within LIUNA, shall continue to be covered under the terms of the current agreement and will not be subject to a change in PCS or years needed for retirement.

 It is the intent of this Agreement that all current LIUNA members (listed on the attached Appendix) shall be "grandfathered" under the terms of the current Collective Bargaining Agreement.

All current employees as of the date of the execution of this contract shall continue to be eligible to retire and receive the medical benefits provided by the current Collective Bargaining Agreement provided they have attained the following:

- A) Completed fifteen (15) years of municipal service and are age fifty-five (55) or who have completed twenty-five (25) years of municipal service regardless of the age; and
- B) Are eligible to receive full pension benefits in accordance with the retirement qualification provisions of MERF-Fund B.

June 8, 3009

- LIUNA members who are currently on payroll will have their PCS contribution capped at twenty-five percent (25%) contribution as of July 1, 2012. This PCS cap is guaranteed to remain intact during the individual employees employment period and entire period of retirement.
- New bargaining unit members, hired during the term of this bargaining agreement, shall start at twenty-five percent (25%) PCS contribution. There will be a one (1%) percent increase each year for the PCS contribution up to fifty-percent (50%). This shall be capped at fifty percent (50%) after twenty-five (25) years of municipal service employment. This PCS cap of fifty percent (50%) is guaranteed to remain in tact during the entire period of retirement.
- Department Heads retain sole discretion/authority for the assigning of take home vehicles.
- Effective July 1, 2010 all bargaining unit members shall be paid through the City's "direct deposit" payroll system.
- All other terms and conditions of the current Collective Bargaining Agreement shall remain unchanged.

This Tentative Agreement signed by the bargaining committees on June 8, 2009.

FOR THE UNION
Valegie Sonnectino
Valerie Sorrentino
il his

June 8, 2009

APPENDIX I

TENTATIVE AGREEMENT LIUNA, LOCAL 200

DURATION

All provisions of this agreement shall be effective as of July 1, 2013 unless another effective date is specified herein, and shall remain in full force and effect until the thirtieth (30th) of June 2017.

ARTICLE 15 - WAGES

Effective July 1, 2013 - 3%
Effective July 1, 2014 - 3%
Effective July 1, 2015 - 2.5%
Effective July 1, 2016 - 2.5%

NEW LANGUAGE

The City and the Union agree to phase out the Insurance Buyout for employees who accept the Buyout but remain covered by the City. Beginning on July 1, 2016 the buyout will be reduced to \$1500.00 and on July 1, 2017 it will be reduced to \$1000.00 and on July 1, 2018 to \$500.00. Commencing on July 1, 2018 there will be no buyout available to those employees receiving health benefits from the City. For employees hired after December 31, 2015, no insurance buyout will be available if that employee receives health benefits from the City, generally from a spouse or other relative.

For those employees who receive health insurance from a source outside of the City, the buyout available to them will be as follows:

Beginning on July 1, 2016 - \$2500.00; July 1, 2017 - \$2750.00; July 1, 2018 - \$3000.00

NEW LANGUAGE -- ARTICLE 19

For LIUNA members who retire on or after December 31, 2015, the parties agree that Medicare-eligible retirees and their spouses who are Medicare eligible are provided with a Medicare supplement plan in place of the city's insurance plan. At that time, the premium cost share as specified in Article 19.12 and 19.13 shall be based on the supplemental plan. Subject to final contract language, the following reflects the concept that the premium cost share shall be paid based on whatever plan(s) the retiree and covered dependents are enrolled in:

For retirees and their spouses attaining Medicare eligibility after the actual retirement date, the premium cost share shall be based upon the premium rate of the supplement plan provided by the City for said retirees and their spouses. The premium cost share

for the retiree's dependents, including a spouse who is not Medicare eligible, shall be based upon the Fully Insured Equivalent rate for the coverage provided to such dependents.

ARTICLE 19 - INSURANCE

All members of the bargaining unit hired after December 31, 2015 will not be entitled to post retirement health benefits. It is understood that all employees on hired on or prior to December 31, 2015 shall be entitled to post retirement health benefits.

ARTICLE 19 NEW LANGUAGE (REOPENER) - INSURANCE

Effective July 1, 2016, the parties agree to reopen the contract to bargain major mandates of the Affordable Health Care Act. As a condition precedent to exercising its right to reopen the contract on this issue, the City shall identify the specific benefit for which it is seeking to reopen the agreement and the date on which the City learned of this issue.

TERMS & CONDITIONS

DATE

This Tentative Agreement is subject to ratification by the union membership and the City.

FOR THE CITY	FOR THE UNION
Conney Tull	
Thomas C Austin	Cory Bramley
Senior Labor Relations Officer	Business Manager
10-13-15	4-11-6- 315 1
DATE	DATE
Dufuil	
Mayor Bill Finch	
10/14/15	

APPENDIX J

Group 8

Detention Center Coordinator

Even Start Coordinator

Family Resource Center Coordinator

Parent Center Coordinator

Quality Enrichment Coordinator

School Readiness Coordinator

Site Facilitator

TOTS Coordinator

Occupational Therapist

Occupational Therapist Assistant

National Network of Partnership Schools Facilitator

APPENDIX K

On-Call Agreement

This agreement is between the City of Bridgeport (hereinafter the "City"), and LIUNA Local 1224 (hereinafter the "Union")

Whereas the City has a need to have a computer specialist available in case a computer system emergency arises outside of normal working hours, and

Whereas multiple, but not all, employees in the City's Information Technology Services (ITS) Department possess the requisite knowledge, skills and abilities to diagnose and resolve computer problems;

Therefore, to provide on-call emergency computer services coverage, the parties agree as follows:

- 1. An on-call roster of employees qualified to handle emergency computer situations is established.
- 2. The roster shall consist of active employees in the positions: Support Specialist II (Except Stella Folder), Server Specialist, and Network Architect
- One employee per week (Monday 8:00 AM thru the following Monday at 8:00 AM) shall be assigned on-call duty. On-call assignment duty shall be rotated weekly.
- 4. A rotation list shall be kept and administered by Director of ITS. On-call assignments shall be distributed equitably amongst roster participants.
- 5. On-call pay of \$200 per week will be paid to the on-call employee for each complete week of on-call status.
- 6. An on-call device will be provided to the employee assigned on-call duty for the week. The on-call employee agrees to keep on call device (cell phone or equivalent) operational and in good working order, and must respond within 15 minutes when notified of an emergency.
- 7. The on-call employee is expected to attempt to resolve the emergency issue first from their remote location and, if not resolvable from a remote location, secure transportation to the City to resolve the issue on-site.
- 8. Overtime for responding to emergency situations shall be paid in accordance with Article 10 (Hours of Work and Overtime) and Article 16 (Call Back Pay) of the collective bargaining agreement. Said overtime

- payment shall be in addition to the \$200.00 pay referred to in #5. Compensatory time shall not be issued in lieu of overtime pay.
- 9. Swapping or substituting of on-call assignments may be allowed with the permission of Director of ITS provided there is no additional cost to the City.
- 10. If no eligible employee is willing to voluntarily accept an on-call assignment, the Director of ITS will order an eligible employee to accept the on-call assignment.
- 11. Failure of an on-call employee to respond to an emergency request in a timely manner can result in discipline.
- 12. This agreement may be revoked by either party with a 60-day written notice of revocation to the other party.
- 13. This agreement shall not constitute a practice or precedent under the collective bargaining agreement between the City and the Union. The Union, will not cite or otherwise utilize this agreement or any of the substantive terms, in any grievance, arbitration (either grievance or binding interest) or any proceeding except for such proceeding to enforce the terms and conditions of this agreement.

FOR THE CITY) .	FOR THE UNION
San Soe Lawkins	Str P Sm
Janene Hawkins	Stephen Snipes, Business Manager
// Labor Relations Director	LIUNA Local 1224
10/18/17	10/18/17
Date	Date